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Chairman’s statement 

Growth in the face of global pandemic

2020 was an unprecedented year, the COVID-19 pandemic bringing forth a massive human, social and economic crisis 
on a global scale. According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the global economy contracted by 3.5% in 2020, 
with many countries falling into recession – the worst decline since the Great Depression of the 1930s.

Resilient financial performance

Against this backdrop, Baiduri Bank demonstrated high resilience and gave a solid performance. Despite the difficult 
operating environment, our market share in assets grew by 21.98% while net profit grew by 1.09% to B$56.2 million. With 
robust credit risk management, there was a significant reduction in loan impairments of 51.19% even after factoring in 
additional allowances to anticipate for higher defaults caused by the pandemic. Return on Equity (ROE) was slightly 
lower, in line with the Bank’s direction to maintain higher Tier 1 Capital, which has increased by 7.98%. Our subsidiaries 
Baiduri Finance and Baiduri Capital also demonstrated strong business momentum during the same period.

Support during COVID-19  
In line with efforts introduced by the Ministry of Finance and Economy and the AMBD to assist financially impacted 
individuals and businesses during the COVID-19 outbreak, Baiduri Bank has introduced several support measures. 
These include principal moratorium and loan restructuring, aimed at alleviating short-term cash flow problems. Our 
comprehensive range of digital channels, including the award-winning Baiduri b.Digital Personal launched in March 2020 
enabled customers to access banking services conveniently from home. Fee waivers were introduced for online fund 
transfers between local banks to further encourage digital adoption, in line with recommendations from the Ministry of 
Health for the public to stay home as much as possible. 

Extended precautionary measures were put in place at our premises to safeguard the health and well-being of those 
who visit the bank. These included professional sanitisation of all branches including those of our subsidiaries, mandatory 
temperature screening, protective shields at teller counters and social distancing measures.

Internally, we activated split team operations and working from home arrangements to ensure business continuity while 
protecting the health and safety of our employees. Care kits comprising disposable face masks, hand sanitisers and 
vitamin C were distributed to all employees with the objective of encouraging self-care and promoting a safer work 
environment. 

To extend our support to the community, we offered a donation of 240 sets of Personal Protective Equipment (PPEs) and 
100 sets of weekly grocery supplies to medical front liners as part of our corporate social responsibility programme which 
has been expanded to cover those in need during the COVID-19 period.

Owing to an effective whole-of-nation approach in combating the pandemic, Brunei recorded positive growth in spite 
of the challenges. In 2020, Brunei GDP grew by 1.2%, largely attributed to growth in the Non-Oil & Gas sector by 9.0%. 
Positive growth was also observed in the sub-sectors of Wholesale and Retail Trade, Health Services and Agriculture, 
and Forestry and Fishery. 

According to Policy Statement 02/2020 issued by Autoriti Monetari Brunei Darussalam (AMBD), the financial sector 
recorded a total asset value of B$21.8 billion as of Q3 2020, with the banking sector representing the lion’s share at 82.3%. 
The sector is liquid and well capitalized. Industry profitability fell by 4.8% mainly as a result of the global low interest rate 
environment, which has adversely impacted interest/profit income on offshore placements with banks and financial 
institutions.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present the 
Annual Report and the Audited Financial Statements of Baiduri 
Bank Berhad for the financial year ended 31 December 2020. 

 Chairman’s statement 
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Human capital development 

In our efforts to digitalise human resource management and service delivery, we have implemented SAP SuccessFactors, 
a cloud-based HR solution for core human resource processes and talent management. To support learning and 
development during the pandemic, we pivoted to a hybrid learning model with a greater focus on e-learning to enable 
employees to access learning resources seamlessly, while aligning to business needs and goals. Specialist programmes 
were introduced in partnership with international learning providers such as Moody Analytics and Intuition Knowledge 
Service to expand the breadth and depth of available learning curriculum. 

To enhance employee engagement, promote wellness and a healthy workplace culture, we launched the Employee 
Wellness Initiative (EWI) in November 2020. Since its inception, the Initiative has gained good traction with active 
involvement from over 25 Wellness Ambassadors across Baiduri Bank and our subsidiaries. We also partner with external 
stakeholders including the Health Promotion Centre, private medical practitioners, and local start-ups in the delivery of 
various wellness activities. Regular reviews are made against workforce sentiment, global and local best practices to 
ensure continuous improvement in programme management. 

Corporate social responsibility

In addition to donations for medical front liners, we also organised a number of initiatives in support of our local 
communities. 

Let’s Give Back This Ramadhan   

An annual charity drive to support underprivileged families, Let’s Give Back This Ramadhan usually 
took the form of a festive shopping excursion followed by followed by a gathering to break the fast. 
Due to the need to comply with social distancing measures, donations of shopping vouchers were 
made to the families instead. A total of 50 families from all four districts received the contributions.

Supporting the business community 

As the presenting sponsor, Baiduri Bank has actively supported the Asia Inc Forum for the last 15 
years to conduct one of the largest business and entrepreneurship development seminar series 
in Brunei. In 2020, the theme was “Business Survival in the time of COVID-19” which focused on 
the impact, response and learnings from tackling the pandemic. Leading up to the main forum 
titled “Transform 2020” which was held in September 2020, a total of 17 weekly webinars were held 
between May and September 2020, addressing different issues and topics pertaining to the new 
normal.

International awards and recognition

In 2020, we received four prestigious international banking awards, including the “Best Banking Group Brunei” 
and “Best Mobile Banking App” from World Finance Magazine, “Domestic Retail Bank of the Year Brunei” from 
the Asian Banking & Finance Magazine and “Best Bank in Asia-Pacific for Brunei” from Global Finance. In 
addition, Standard & Poor’s reaffirmed Baiduri Bank’s credit rating of BBB+/A-2 with stable outlook in July 2020.  

Human capital development
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Baiduri Bank Berhad
Baiduri Bank performed well in 2020 despite economic headwinds from the COVID-19 pandemic. Around the world, many 
economies fell into recession and financial institutions grappled with near-zero interest rates and deteriorating credit 
portfolios. Facing similar challenges, the Bank registered a decline in net interest income last year over the previous year. 
Nevertheless, thanks to strong credit controls and decisive remedial actions, the Bank was able to post an uptick in net 
profit after tax in 2020.

The financial results came as the Bank made great strides in controlling total operating expenses and keeping credit 
impairment losses low amid the challenging environment brought about by the spread of the coronavirus. Moreover, 
strong bad debt recovery measures helped support the healthy performance of various business units.

As a result, Baiduri Bank achieved a net profit after tax of B$56.84 million in 2020, a slight increase from the B$56.23 
million recorded in 2019.

The Bank also maintained a strong balance sheet. By the end of 2020, its total assets exceeded B$3.3 billion. Total 
equity increased to B$452 million from B$414 million the year before. Its capital adequacy ratio hit 20.79%, well above the 
minimum ratio of 10% required by the Autoriti Monetari Brunei Darussalam (AMBD).

Baiduri Bank Group

As a whole, Baiduri Bank Group managed to achieve a total operating income of B$161 million and a net profit after tax 
of B$58.9 million in 2020. Net profit after tax was 4.15% more than the amount reported in the previous year.

The Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2020 stood at B$4.2 billion. Total equity reached B$546 million, 7.92% more 
than that of the year before. Over the same period, the Group’s total capital ratio improved to 20.72% from 20.25%.

Highlights of 2020 financial performance

Highlights of 2020 financial performance
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Corporate Highlights

Corporate Highlights
EXPANSION OF CEO OFFICE STRUCTURE

In 2020, Baiduri Bank Group initiated 
internal organisational changes with 
the aim to create better alignment of 
purpose, build an agile and learning 
organisation, develop synergy within 
the Group, expand collaborations 
with business partners and enhance 
customer experience with one 
ultimate goal – achieve sustainable 
growth.

In July 2020, the Group announced 
that the CEO Office organisational 
structure would be expanded to 
include dual Deputy Chief Executive 
Officer positions. In line with this, 
Manuel Bulens was appointed to the 
newly created position of Deputy 
Chief Executive Officer (Compliance, 
Corporate Governance and Legal 
Advisory), while Pengiran Azaleen PD Haji Mustapha would hold the position of Deputy Chief Executive Officer (Business 
Development). Manuel Bulens has international banking experience on compliance, controls, risk and governance with 
Citibank branches in Belgium, Spain, Russia and Korea. Prior to joining Baiduri Bank, he was the Head of Retail Banking at 
Alliance Bank Malaysia from June 2018 to December 2019. Manuel is also a Certified Internal Auditor, Certified Information 
System Auditor and a Chartered Banker.

COMPLIANCE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

As we set our focus on strengthening Compliance and Corporate Governance, we implemented a few key initiatives:

•	 Complete revamp of our Anti Money Laundering (AML) processes, ensuring more robust and efficient monitoring and 
reporting workflows while allowing the team to focus on managing the key risks.

•	 Establishing the Regulatory Compliance team and the Monitoring and Testing team. This allows compliance to play a 
stronger advisory role to the business when new regulations are being issued and to identify areas of weakness that 
should remediated.

•	 Implementing the new Anti-Bribery and Corruptions policy with the aim of providing better training and guidelines to 
employees and vendors.

COVID-19 SUPPORT AND RELIEF MEASURES

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, Baiduri Bank Group activated its Business Continuity Plan (BCP) for Pandemic on 
12 March 2020 after the World Health Organisation declared COVID-19 a pandemic. Employees were provided with care 
kits comprising disposable face masks, hand sanitisers and vitamin C to encourage self-care and promote a safer work 
environment.

In addition to splitting team operations under the BCP, we also performed professional sanitation of all branches including 
our subsidiaries. Mandatory temperature screening, social distancing measures as well as fabricating acrylic shields at 
teller counters to form a protective barrier were swiftly implemented across our branch network.

In support of efforts led by the Ministry of Finance and Economy and the Autoriti Monetari Brunei Darussalam (AMBD) 
to assist financially impacted individuals and businesses during the outbreak, we introduced several support measures 
for our customers. For eligible individuals, we offered a deferment of principal repayments for personal and mortgage/
property loans, loan restructuring, and option to convert credit card
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Corporate Highlights

balances to term loans. Deferment of Hire Purchase principal repayments was also offered through our subsidiary, 
Baiduri Finance. 

In addition, we waived fees for online fund transfers between local banks to encourage customers to use digital channels 
such as online banking, mobile banking and ATM banking, in line with safe distancing measures.

RELOCATION TO NEW HEADQUARTERS

After more than two decades of having our main office in Kiarong, in June 2020, we relocated to our new home at 1, 
Jalan Gadong. The new headquarters is a modern and contemporary building designed with environmental-friendly and 
‘community-friendly’ features that were developed and built to international standards. The building, which is ‘Green 
Mark’ ready, is also equipped with the latest technological solutions. It houses our own state-of-the-art data centre of 
Tier 3 level standard, private WiFi for employees, a WiFi hotspot for customers and a QR-code based digital queueing 
system.

Aside from this, the building also offers leisure spots including b.Cafe, which is open to the public, and a community 
area named the Baiduri Community Space, which was built to host a variety of events ranging from product launches, 
seminars, performances and also charity events. Other features include a more spacious Prestige Centre for high net-
worth customers and a dedicated Digital Hub complete with demo kiosks to showcase our suite of digital offerings.
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BRAND REFRESH: CO-CREATING YOUR FUTURE

In September 2020, we launched a full brand refresh campaign, which saw the introduction of a refreshed logo, collaterals, 
frontline uniform, and a new look and feel across various customer touchpoints. This brand refresh is a culmination of 
a year-long journey of planning, research, and extensive assessment to find out the overall perception of the Baiduri 
brand.

Inspired by an aspiration to co-create futures with our 
stakeholders, the refreshed logo comprises two solid 
strokes coming together in a symbol of partnership. It 
also showcases our progressive and global outlook, 
with a thoughtful touch of familiarity deeply rooted in 
local heritage. Along with the refreshed logo, we also 
introduced our brand promise “Co-creating your future”. 
At the heart of this new brand promise is a greater focus on 
our customers and being with them as a financial partner 
throughout their life stages. 

The refreshed brand also lays out our new Vision, Mission 
and Core Values. Our new vision is to become the leading 
and preferred financial partner, empowering individuals 
and businesses to achieve financial success in a changing 
world, while our mission is to enrich, empower and engage 
the communities we serve in a responsible and sustainable 
way. These aspects define our renewed purpose and 
direction for future engagements with all our stakeholders. 

In tandem with the brand refresh, a brand new, mobile-
optimised website was also launched, along with an 
Artificial Intelligence (AI) Chatbot, Emmi. Using predictive 
analytics, Emmi has the capacity to actively learn 
from conversations, providing relevant answers before 
customers even complete their questions and offering 
next-best answers based on context. By conversing with 
Emmi, customers can get their frequently asked questions 
related to our products and services answered in real time. 
From October to December 2020, Emmi registered a 64% 
engagement rate where a user sent at least one message 
or quick reply, a 97% containment rate where “engaged” conversations did not result in a handoff for support and an 88% 
recognition rate where Emmi was able to understand and adequately address the questions.
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RETAIL BANKING

Strategic partnership with Royal Brunei

In October 2020, we partnered with Brunei’s flagship carrier, Royal Brunei Airlines, to introduce the latest suite of co-
branded cards, the Royal Brunei Visa Debit and Credit Cards by Baiduri Bank. The Royal Brunei Visa Cards are the first 
co-branded payment and travel cards in Brunei equipped with the latest in contactless payment technologies. The 
Cards come with unsurpassed perks and privileges, including a fast track to earning Royal Skies miles. Cardholders can 
earn miles at an attractive rate through everyday spending such as groceries, utilities and dining, and twice as much 
when they use their card at any Royal Brunei Customer Service Centre or online at www.flyRB.com.

In addition, cardholders can enjoy up to 7kg additional 
baggage allowance on all RB flights and DragonPass 
membership privileges. Other benefits include year-round 
travel deals, comprehensive travel insurance coverage, 
access to Sky Lounge at Brunei International Airport at 
preferential rates, as well as global privileges offered by 
Visa. These cards enjoy the widest acceptance without 
any restrictions at more than 61 million Visa merchant 
locations, 2.3 million Visa ATMs worldwide and over 200 
countries around the world. With a choice of debit and 
credit cards, these benefits are now accessible to a wider 
group of consumers in Brunei who can opt for the type of 
card best suited to their needs and lifestyle.

Financial Education for Customers

•	 Twin Currency Deposit Workshop

In October 2020, we hosted a Twin Currency Deposit 
workshop at Dynasty Restaurant. The workshop was 
conducted by Mukhriz Mangsor, a certified Financial 
Technician from Quant Dynamic, a research company 
based in Brunei that specialises in providing quality 
financial education and literacy to traders and 
investors, as well as Christina Ong, a Licensed Financial 
Planner from Baiduri Bank.

Corporate Highlights
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•	 Baiduri Bank Panel Talk: “Financial Security in the New Normal”

In December 2020, we held a panel discussion that looked at innovative ways to be financially independent in the 
era of the new normal. The event was held at the Baiduri Community Space (BCS) located at our new headquarters. 
The event, titled “Financial Security in the New Normal”, was a lifestyle-themed panel discussion that focused on ‘side 
hustles’ – passion projects that have now increasingly become a great way to boost an individual’s income. The panel 
discussed the intricacies of maneuvering financial security in an ever-changing world and ways of achieving a secure 
financial future.

Baiduri Wellness Fest Roadshow

In November 2020, we held a 2-day roadshow called “Baiduri Wellness Fest” – the first roadshow held at our new 
headquarters. The roadshow aims to gather various stakeholders, ranging from our customers to our business partners 
to the Bruneian community, in one place with a unique approach towards promoting financial literacy and inclusion to 
the public. 

Open to members of the public, the roadshow was also part of our ongoing efforts to reach a wider audience through 
a more interactive platform. The roadshow featured family-friendly games and activities such as tote bag designing, 
weaving demonstrations, cookie art decorations as well as a mini zen garden workshop. In the spirit of co-creation, all 
these activities were organised in collaboration with various local businesses.

Corporate Highlights
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INVESTMENTS TOWARDS DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY

Launching of Baiduri b.Digital Personal

In March 2020, we unveiled an all-new digital banking and lifestyle platform with the launch of Baiduri b.Digital Personal, 
available in both mobile app and web versions. The new platform embodies the phrase ‘be digital’ and is designed 
to give users a new digital experience. The app comes with an improved user interface (UI) that is optimised for one-
handed use. With just a tap of their thumb or a swipe of their finger, customers can easily perform a wide range of tasks 
such as paying bills, purchasing top-ups, setting up standing instructions and viewing their accounts or statements 
directly from their mobile devices.

In addition to the improved layout and features, the app also provides the option of biometric login through facial or 
fingerprint recognition for a faster and more seamless login process. Additionally, the optional ‘Quick Balance’ feature 
allows customers to view a specified account balance with a simple swipe without the need to log in. Authenticating 
payments is easier and more secure with the new mobile app. When customers make online transactions, the app 
generates a secure code through its ‘Soft Token’ feature. This feature does not require any network connection or 
physical token, which makes authenticating transactions easier whether customers are at home or overseas.
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INTERNATIONAL AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

In 2020, Baiduri Bank Group received four major banking awards.

Corporate Highlights

Best Bank Award for Brunei 2020
We have once again been recognised as the country winner for Brunei in the 
World’s Best Banks Awards 2020. This award marks our sixth award from Global 
Finance since 2014.

The Best Banking Group Award for Brunei 2020
Baiduri Bank Group was recognised again as the Best Banking Group by World 
Finance magazine. The achievement marks the third international banking 
award this year for Baiduri Bank and the twelfth time we received this prestigious 
accolade. 

Best Mobile Banking App Award for Brunei 2020
We achieved yet another milestone with the Best Mobile Banking App award 
in the World Finance Digital Banking Awards 2020. The award was given in 
recognition of our new digital banking platform, Baiduri b.Digital Personal, 
launched in March 2020.

International Credit Rating
In August 2020, in recognition of our resilience in the face of the global pandemic, leading international ratings agency 
Standard & Poor’s reaffirmed its credit rating of BBB+/A-2 with stable outlook for Baiduri Bank, placing us in the company 
of strong regional and global banks. The report from Standard & Poor’s stated that the stable outlook on Baiduri Bank 
reflects their expectation that the Bank “will maintain its high systemic importance in Brunei”. The outlook also reflects 
their view that Baiduri Bank’s financial profile “will remain steady due to their adequate internal capital accruals amid 
low- to mid-single digit growth” over the next 18-24 months.

Domestic Retail Bank of the Year for Brunei 2020
We received the Domestic Retail Bank of the Year for Brunei award for the eighth 
year in a row from the Asian Banking & Finance magazine. 

Recertified the latest PCI-DSS
Since 2014, Baiduri Bank has been certified 
under the internationally recognised Payment 
Card Data Security Standard (PCI-DSS). In 
October 2020, we reaffirmed our commitment 
to ensuring our customer data is protected to 
the highest standard with our recertification 
to the latest Payment Card Industry Data 
Security Standard (PCI-DSS) V3.2.1. The PCI-
DSS Standard covers a number of aspects 
related to protecting customer confidentiality 
and data such as the handling of data by 
the Bank’s systems, guarding against theft 
of data as well as internet-based intrusions 
among others.
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BAIDURI FINANCE 

In 2020, Baiduri Finance continued to lead the way with innovative digital-led offerings including enhanced features 
for the Baiduri Finance Mobile app and HP Care, a comprehensive service package for motor insurance and road tax 
renewal. Baiduri Finance has also successfully implemented the first phase of HP Online, Brunei’s first digital car financing 
platform that offers fast approvals and straight-through processing of hire purchase applications. 

Baiduri Finance continues to be the only finance company in Brunei to be certified to the ISO9001:2015 standard, the seal 
of quality management system, covering all functions and processes throughout the organisation.
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BAIDURI CAPITAL	

Online Investor Education

After the outbreak of COVID-19 in the country, 
Baiduri Capital continued its efforts to create 
awareness and instill confidence among 
investors by organising a series of online 
investment workshops and webinars for its 
customers throughout 2020.  Through investment 
workshops, Baiduri Capital aims to provide 
investors with the necessary tools, knowledge 
and skills in making well-informed decisions to 
reach their financial goals. Through partnerships 
with the various global partners, Baiduri Capital 
is able to provide a more comprehensive 
investment experience. Some of the webinars 
include:

•	 “Fundamentals of Financial Health Check of 
a Company”

The webinar was conducted by Mike Ong 
Yao Heng, Chief Editor of the HQ Education 
Series at Phillip Securities. Some of the topics 
discussed during the webinar included upcoming key economic events throughout the year, key financial ratios used 
to determine a company’s financial health as well as case studies.

•	 “3 investment strategies by choosing the best REITs”

The webinar was conducted by Mike Ong Yao Heng, Chief Editor of the HQ Education Series at Phillip Securities. Real 
Estate Investment Trusts, or REITs, are a popular investment favoured by Bruneian investors for passive income.

•	 “Looking Ahead to the Post COVID-19 World”

The webinar looked at how the pandemic has affected various markets and earmarked potential trends once these 
markets begin to recover. It was conducted by Winnie Tan, a Senior Channel Sales Manager of Allianz Global Investors 
Singapore.

•	 “Trade Idea Generation and Formulation of Trade Plans on Singapore Stocks”

The webinar was conducted by Binni Ong, who has more than 15 years of experience in providing trading education 
to both institutional and retail clients. This webinar was the second in a series of educational webinars Baiduri Capital 
is organising in collaboration with SGX Academy, a leading provider of investor education and professional training 
based in Singapore.

•	 “The US Election Outcome and Its Impact on the Global Markets”

The webinar was conducted by Sun Wan Xin from Phillip Securities, a specialist in the Hong Kong market. The webinar 
explored how the US Presidential Elections would impact the performance of the US stock markets as a result of the 
political uncertainties and market expectations.

Baiduri Capital “Investing in your tomorrow” Promotion

Since its inception, Baiduri Capital has offered a range of investment products to suit the different investment objectives 
and risk appetites of its customers. In its efforts to further raise awareness on the importance of learning how to invest, 
and to continuously update their clients on the latest trends and developments in the global financial market, Baiduri 
Capital launched the “Investing in your tomorrow” promotion in November 2020, which ranuntil March 2021. The campaign 
was open to both new and existing customers of Baiduri Capital. 

The campaign offered attractive prizes including a Microsoft Surface Pro 7 tablet with a full suite of accessories, a 
Samsung 65-inch QLED Ultra HD television set plus a Dyson V7 Absolute Plus cordless vacuum cleaner, and a 3 days and 
2 nights stay at The Empire Brunei along with a Dyson Pure Cool purifier fan.
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Baiduri Capital Investment Challenge (BCIC)

The BCIC is an annual initiative by Baiduri Capital that 
aims to provide a platform for students to apply what they 
have learnt in the classroom in real life settings and is in 
support of AMBD’s Capital Market Unit’s goal to increase 
investment literacy among the general public. This is the 
fourth challenge since Baiduri Capital first hosted it in the 
year 2017. 

This edition’s BCIC began in October 2019 and ended in April 
2020. The participants were made up of undergraduate 
students from Universiti Brunei Darussalam, Universiti 
Teknologi Brunei and Politeknik Brunei. Each team comprised 

four members and were given BND5,000 as initial capital to invest into any of the securities listed on the Singapore Stock 
Exchange (SGX), Malaysia Stock Exchange (BURSA), Hong Kong Stock Exchange (HKEx), China A-Shares (SSE-A) or the US 
Stock Exchange (NYSE MKT LLC, NYSE and NASDAQ). Any profits that were earned by the teams in the challenge were 
retained by them. Throughout the challenge, participants were given direct access to licensed dealers who acted as their 
mentors and offered valuable insights and advice into the world of trading and investing. Both teams added that the access 
to these mentors were important towards their decision-making process throughout the challenge.

By organising this annual challenge, Baiduri Capital hopes to generate interest in investment amongst the younger 
generation so they will not only appreciate the workings of the capital markets, but also prepare them to deal with investment 
opportunities in the future.

Launching of New Funds

•	 Lion Global Investor Fund

The year kicked off with the “Investments for Growth and Income” seminar for its investors in partnership with Lion Global 
Investors, one of the largest asset managers in South East Asia. Held in January 2020, the seminar was conducted by Teo 
Joo Wah, Chief Investment Officer at LGI and S K Selvan, Director, Head of Curated Portfolios at Lion Global investors (LGI). 
The seminar focused on three LGI funds: Lion Global Japan Growth Fund, Lion Global Investors Disruptive Innovation Fund 
and the Lion Global Singapore Dividend Equity Fund. The seminar highlighted the global market outlook, the disruptive 
innovators and how these innovations are changing the market.

•	 United Global Healthcare Fund

In its efforts to provide their customers with a variety of investment products, Baiduri Capital launched the United Global 
Healthcare Fund in partnership with UOB Asset Management Singapore (UOBAM) in November 2020. The investment 
objective of the United Global Healthcare Fund is to achieve long term capital growth by investing in securities issued 
by companies principally involved in the development, production and distribution of products, equipment and services 
related to healthcare, in any part of the world.

Along with the launch, there was also a short seminar titled “Seeking Long-Term Sustainable Growth in the Global 
Healthcare Industry”, conducted by Shankar Panchadcharam, Senior Director of the Intermediary Sales Team at UOBAM, 
who has more than 18 years of experience in the retail investment industry. 
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Human Resources
Learning and Development

To support learning and development during the pandemic, we pivoted to a hybrid learning model with a greater focus 
on e-learning to enable our employees to access learning resources seamlessly, while aligning to business needs and 
goals.

The HR learning transformation was implemented in three phases. The first phase was through a strategic partnership 
with Moody’s Analytics (MA), the learning arm of Moody’s Corporation, an internationally acclaimed Credit Agency, to 
provide specific technical skills and certifications targeting employees mostly at the frontline. This curriculum consists 
of 4 highly specialised programmes focusing on upskilling employees in Corporate Banking, Retail Banking, Wealth 
Management, Baiduri Capital and Baiduri Finance. Within each of the programme, employees of different job levels were 
matched to the corresponding levels of technical expertise required in accordance with business needs. The investment 
for MA’s curriculum extends over a 3-year period leading to professional certifications.

Whilst MA’s curated specialist programmes serve the needs of frontline, another external e-learning platform, the 
Dublin-based Intuition Knowledge Services (IKS) was intended to deliver general banking knowledge benchmarked on 
international standards. The IKS curriculum offers up to 1000 bite-sized, interactive short modules in 44 courses. The 
intention is to capitalise on short pockets of learning period accessible via multiple channels – on PC at the workplace, 
dedicated computer room at the learning hub and mobile devices at the convenience of learners. . An incentive 
programme was also launched to pique interest in e-learning take-up during the initial introductory phase. Anchored on 
the concept of gamification, this programme was designed to reward staff based on the number of courses completed 
within a stipulated period of time. 

Additionally, the HR team worked hand-in-hand with numerous subject matter specialists to design and produce 
e-learning programmes leading to a 2-hour learning accomplishment for each individual employee. In 2020, e-learning 
generated by in-house specialists accounted for a notable 55% of the total e-learning hours (equivalent to approximately 
2.75 days), customised to our specific needs.

Employee Wellness Initiative (EWI)

In our efforts to promote work-life balance and an overall healthier workforce, we launched the EWI in November 2020. 
Aimed at encouraging employees to take care of their physical and mental health, the initiative was run in collaboration 
with the Health Promotion Centre (HPC) at the Ministry of Health . As part of this initiative, we also introduced our very 
own Wellness Ambassadors – employees who advocate and promote a wellness culture among their colleagues. 

Following this initiative, more programmes would be introduced in partnership with local health experts and organisations 
to engage employees in group-based fitness activities, designed to nurture camaraderie and teamwork among 
employees.

Human Resources



20

Secondment of Royal Brunei Employees to Baiduri Bank

In November 2020, Baiduri Bank and Royal Brunei Airlines signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for the 
secondment of up to fifteen RB employees to Baiduri Bank. The signing ceremony took place at Baiduri Community 
Space, Baiduri Bank Headquarters. Mr Ti Eng Hui, Chief Executive Officer of Baiduri Bank signed the agreement for the 
Bank. Signing as witness was Ms Veronica Chong, Head of Group Human Resources and Administration, Baiduri Bank. 
Signing for Royal Brunei Airlines was Captain Saiful Bahrin Awang Bahar, Acting Chief Executive Officer of Royal Brunei 
Airlines while Shaarill Fred Teo, Manager Performance and Engagement signed as witness. Through this programme, the 
secondees would be deployed to customer-service related roles for a six-month period.

Human Resources
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Corporate Social Responsibility
As a firm believer in corporate social responsibility, Baiduri Bank is committed to nurturing and empowering the 
communities we serve. Amongst others, we regularly provide support in varying forms for individuals and organisations 
of diverse backgrounds.

Official Bank Partner for DPMM FC

In February 2020, for the fifth year running, Baiduri Bank signed on as the Official Bank Partner for Brunei’s most prominent 
football team, DPMM FC, for the year’s Singapore League (S-League). In a signing ceremony held at the Centrepoint 
Hotel, Gadong, Ak Nor Muhammad Nizam bin Pg Hj Tengah, Head of Group Treasury and Institutional Banking, Baiduri 
Bank signed the Sponsorship Agreement for DPMM FC during the S.League 2020 season for the Bank. 

Aid for Medical Frontliners during COVID-19

In March 2020, we presented a donation comprising 100 sets of weekly grocery supplies and other basic household 
necessities to the Raja Isteri Pengiran Anak Saleha (RIPAS) Hospital. In April 2020, a second round of donations comprising 
similar sets were handed over to the Hospital Pengiran Muda Mahkota Pengiran Muda Haji Al-Muhtadee Billah in Tutong. 
This is to ease the burden and strain on medical personnel working in round-the-clock shifts during the COVID-19 
outbreak in Brunei.

In April 2020, another donation was presented to the COVID-19 medical frontliners in the form of personal protective 
equipment. The donation, comprising 240 universal protective kits (UPKs) was handed over to Yang Berhormat Dato Seri 
Setia Dr Hj Mohd Isham bin Hj Jaafar, the Minister of Health by Pg Azaleen PD Hj Mustapha, Deputy CEO of Baiduri Bank.

These donations were in response to the call made by the Minister of Health and the Minister of Finance and Economy to 
support the frontline medical teams and was a part of Baiduri Bank Group’s corporate social responsibility programme 
which has been expanded to cover those in need during the pandemic.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Supporting Teens in AI Brunei programme

Baiduri Bank has always been supporting youth development as part of our corporate social responsibility programme.  
In September 2020, we were one of the main sponsors of Teens in AI (Artificial Intelligence) Brunei programme, a 
developmental programme by London-based award-winning social enterprise Acorn Aspirations. The programme was 
facilitated in Brunei by Darussalam Enterprise (DARe) and implemented by local startup InTurn Co., with the Authority 
for Info-communications Technology Industry of Brunei Darussalam (AITI) and the Science Technology Environment 
Partnership (STEP) Centre at the Ministry of Education (MoE) serving as strategic and community partners respectively. 

The programme comprises 500 Brunei youth set to participate in the first Teens in AI hackathon in Southeast Asia over 
three phases in the next 12 months to develop their skills in new technologies to solve real-world problems.

Supporting Local Business Development (LBD) Programme – TRANSFORM 2020

For the thirteenth consecutive year in 2020, Baiduri Bank partnered with Asia Inc Forum in the annual Local Business 
Development (LBD) Programme. The LBD is a platform for developing local MSME capabilities and competitiveness by 
providing resources for them to learn real-life lessons and experiences, discover new ideas and solutions, and build 
networks.

Held in October 2020, the TRANSFORM 2020 event carried the theme “Business Survival in the Time of COVID-19”, 
specifically addressing the impact of, response to, and learnings from tackling the COVID-19 pandemic head-on. It 
comprised a one-day forum for founders, entrepreneurs and managers of local businesses.  Business owners, managers 
and corporate executives, including clients of Baiduri Bank participated. Leading up to the main event, a number of 
weekly online business clinics were organised to address various topics on how to manage businesses amid COVID-19.
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Recognising talent at UTB Excellence Awards

In November 2020, Baiduri Bank sponsored two graduates at the Universiti Teknologi Brunei (UTB) Student Excellence 
Award held at the Royal Berkshire Hall, Tarindak d’Polo, Jerudong. Under the sponsorship, Karuneza binti Haji Sambas, 
who graduated with an honours degree in Finance and Risk Management, and Nana Maryana binti Tengah, who 
graduated with an honours degree in Business Information Systems, were each awarded a B$500 cash prize and a 
six-month internship with Baiduri Bank. This is part of our efforts in human capital development, in line with one of the 
main goals of Brunei’s Wawasan 2035 – to make Brunei Darussalam widely recognised for the accomplishments of its 
educated and highly skilled people.

Supporting 50 Underprivileged Families

As part of our annual Let’s Give Back this Ramadhan programme, we organised four events comprising shopping 
activities and Iftar (breaking of fast) for underprivileged families in the country during the holy month of Ramadhan.  A 
total of 50 families from all four districts (Brunei-Muara, Tutong, Belait and Temburong) benefitted from the programme in 
2020. The programme was intended to provide some relief for these families during Ramadhan by taking them shopping 
for household necessities in preparation for the upcoming Hari Raya Aidilfitri celebrations. This spirit of caring for one 
another is a quality we value and encourage among our staff as part of our corporate responsibility programme. 

Corporate Social Responsibility
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Report of the Directors
The directors  have pleasure  in presenting  their annual report and audited consolidated financial  statements of Baiduri 
Bank Berhad (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)  for the financial year ended December 31, 2020.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Bank and the Group are to carry on the business of banking and related financial services  
including  dealing  in investment  securities  and e-financial services. There have  been  no significant changes in the 
nature of these activities during the financial year.

Results
Note

Bank
B$’000

Group 
B$’000

Balance as at January 1, 2020, as restated 34 98,596 155,044

Total profits for the financial year 56,844 58,868

Transferred  to Statutory Reserve from Retained Earnings (14,211) (17,588)

Dividend paid (18,750) (18,750)

Shares issued and paid (in thousands)	 30 122,479 177,574

Reserves and provisions 

There were no other material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year other than those 
disclosed  in the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated financial statements

The state of affairs of the Bank and the Group as at December 31, 2020 are set out in the Statements of Financial 
Position. These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on March 17, 2021.

Dividend

Declared and paid during the financial year are as follows:

Final dividend paid in respect of the financial year ended December 31, 2019

At the forthcoming  Annual General Meeting, a final dividend of B$ 19,000,000 in respect of the financial year ended 
December 31, 2020 will be proposed for shareholders’ approval.

Directors

The directors in office during the financial year and at the date of this report are:

YAM Pengiran Muda Dr Abdul Fattaah

YM Dato Paduka Timothy Ong Teck Mong

YM Dato Seri Paduka Dr Awg Haji Abdul Manaf Bin Haji Metussin (appointed on March 19, 2020)

YM Hajah Rahayu Binti Dato Paduka Haji Abdul Razak (appointed on March 19, 2020)

Pierre Imhof

Bertie Cheng Shao Shiong

Dayang Norliah Binti Haji Kula (resigned on January 1, 2020)

Haji Sofian Bin Jani (resigned on February 15, 2020)

18,750,000

B$

Report of the Directors
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Arrangements to enable directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares 
and/or debentures 

Neither  at the end of the financial  year nor at any time during  the financial  year did there subsist  any arrangement  
whose object  is to enable  the directors  to acquire  benefits  by means of the acquisition  of shares or debentures in 
the Bank or any other body corporate. 

Directors’ interests in shares and/or debentures

The  directors  holding  office  at  the  end  of  the  financial  year  had  no  interests  in  the share  capital  or 
debentures of the Bank and related corporations  as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings kept 
by the Bank except as follows:

Name of directors and companies 
in which interests are held At December 31, 2020 At January 1, 2020 or date of 

appointment, if later

Subsidiary company 

Baiduri Finance Berhad

(Ordinary shares)

YAM Pengiran Muda Abdul Fattaah

YM Dato Paduka Timothy Ong Teck Mong 1 1

Pierre Imhof 1 1

Bertie Cheng Shao Shiong 1 1

Directors’ receipt and entitlement to contractual benefits

Since the beginning of the financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit 
which is required  to be disclosed,  by reason  of a contract  made by the Bank or a related  corporation with 
the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial
interest except as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. Certain directors received remuneration
from related corporations  in their capacity as directors and/or executives of those related corporations.

Auditors

The auditors, Deloitte & Touche, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment. 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Director

Brunei Darussalam 
Date: March 17, 2021

DirectorDirector Director

Report of the Directors

Holdings  registered under the name of director or nominee
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of

Baiduri Bank Berhad and Its Subsidiaries
(Incorporated in Brunei Darussalam)

Opinion

We have audited  the financial statements of Baiduri  Bank  Berhad (the “Bank”) and  its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which 
comprise the statements of financial position of the Bank and the Group as at December 31, 2020 and the statements 
of profit or loss, statements of other comprehensive  income, statements of changes  in  equity  and  statements  of cash  
flows  of the Bank  and the  Group for the financial  year then ended and notes to the consolidated  financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on  pages 7 to 101.

In our opinion,  the  accompanying  consolidated  financial  statements  of  the  Bank  and  the Group  are properly 
drawn  up in accordance  with the provisions of the Brunei Darussalam Companies Act, Cap. 39 (the  “Act”),  the  Brunei  
Darussalam  Banking  Order,  2006  (the  “Order”) and International  Financial Reporting  Standards  (“IFRS”), so as to give 
a true  and  fair view of the financial position  of the Bank and  the Group  as at December  31, 2020  and  of the financial  
performance, changes  in equity  and  cash flows of the Bank and the Group for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We  conducted   our  audit   in   accordance   with   International   Standards  on   Auditing  (“ISAs”).  Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor ’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the  Financial  Statements  
section  of  our  report.  We  are  independent  of the  Bank  and  the Group  in accordance   with   the   International   
Ethics  Standards   Board   of   Accountants’   Code   of   Ethics   for Professional  Accountants  (“IESBA  Code”) together  
with  the ethical  requirements  that  are  relevant  to our  audit  of  the financial  statements  in  Brunei  Darussalam,  and  
we  have  fulfilled  our  other  ethical responsibilities in  accordance  with  these  requirements  and  the IESBA Code.  We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained  is sufficient  and appropriate  to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other  information. The other information  comprises the Directors’ Report  included  
in  pages  I  to 3 and  the  Pillar  3  Public  Disclosure  report appended  to the consolidated financial statements  but does 
not  include the consolidated  financial statements and  our auditor’s report thereon,  which  we  obtained  prior  to  the  
date  of  this  auditors   report,  and  the  Chairman’s  Statement, Corporate  Infoi‘nsation, Corporate  Highlights  and  List  
of  Offices,  Branches  and  ATM  Network  (“the Reports”) which  are expected  to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial  statements  does  not  cover  the other  information  and  we do not express 
any form  of assurance conclusion  thereon.

In connection  with  our audit of the consolidated  financial statements,  our responsibility is to read  the other  information  
and,  in doing  so, consider  whether  the other  information  is materially  inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained  in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,  we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Reports, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate 
the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate actions in accordance with ISAs.

Responsibilities of directors for the consolidated  financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and  fair 
view in accordance  with the provisions  of the Act, the Order and IFRS, and for devising and maintaining  a system of 
internal  accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance  that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised  use of disposition;  and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary 
to permit the preparation of true and fair consolidated financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

Report of the Auditors
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank’s and the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern  basis of accounting unless the directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The  directors’ responsibilities  include  overseeing the Bank’s  and the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated  financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated  financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that  an audit conducted  in accordance  with  
ISAs  will  always detect a material  misstatement  when  it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered  material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As  part  of  an  audit  in  accordance  with  ISAs,  we  exercise  professional  judgement  and  maintain professional  
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify  and  assess  the  risks  of  material  misstatement  of  the  consolidated  financial  statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures  responsive  to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement  
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,  as fraud  may  involve  collusion,  forgery,  intentional  
omissions,  misrepresentations,  or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate  in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s 
and the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate  the  appropriateness  of  accounting  policies  used  and  the  reasonableness  of  accounting estimates and  
related disclosures  made  by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’  use of the going concern  basis of accounting and, based  on  the  
audit  evidence  obtained,  whether  a  material  uncertainty  exists  related  to events or conditions  that  may cast 
significant  doubt  on  the Bank’s and  the  Group’s  ability  to continue as a going concern. If we conclude  that a 
material  uncertainty exists, we are required  to draw attention in otir auditor’s report to the related  disclosures  in the 
consolidated  financial  statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained  up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Bank and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate  the  overall  presentation,  structure  and  content  of the consolidated  financial  statements, including   the   
disclosures,   and   whether   the   consolidated   financial   statements   represent   the underlying transactions and 
events  in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain  sufficient  appropriate  audit  evidence  regarding  the financial  information  of the entities  or business 
activities within the Bank and the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  We are 
responsible  for the direction, supervision  and  performance  of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our 
audit opinion.

We communicate  with  the directors  regarding,  among  other matters,  the planned  scope and  timing  of the audit 
and  significant  audit findings,  if any, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify  during 
our audit.

Report of the Auditors
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Report on other legal and regulatory  requirements

In  our opinion,  the accounting  and  other  records  required  by  the Act  and  the Order to  be kept  by  the Bank and 
the Group have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the Order. We have obtained all the 
information  and explanations that we required.

Deloitte & Touche
Certified  Public Accountants

Haji Zulfariq Zara Bin Haji Zainuddin
Public Accountant

Brunei  Darussalam 
Date: March  17, 2021

Report of the Auditors
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Statements of Profit or Loss
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Note
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
  

Change
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000 Change

Income
Interest income 81,682 104,054 -21.50% 136,813 159,096 -14.01%
Interest expense (12,261) (19,389) -36.76% (15,184) (21,702) -30.03%

Net interest income 5 69,421 84,665 -18.01% 121,629 137,394 —11.48%
Fee income 9,599 9,047 6.11% 11,108 9,940 11.75%
Fee expense (457) (420) 8.89% (844) (584) 44.55%

Net fee income 9,142 8,627 5.97% 10,264 9,356 9.70%
Other operating income 6 47,617 49,928 -4.63% 28,796 27,093 6.29%
Net income/(loss) from other 

financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss

7 253 (328) -176.86% 253 (328) -176.86%

Net other operating income 47,870 49,600 -3.49% 29,049 26,765 8.54%

Total operating income before
impairment charges and
allowances

126,433 142,892 -11.52% 160,942 173,515 -7.25%

Less:
Personnel expenses 8 (33,681) (32,302) 4.27% (39,920) (38,415) 3.92%
Provision for end of service 

benefits 
(1,000) (2,000) -50.00% (1,288) (2,288) -43.71%

Other overhead expenses 9 (30,666) (35,979) -14 77% (52,064) (56,578) -7.98%

Total operating expenses (65,347) (70,281) -7.02% (93,272) (97,281) -4.12%

Less:

Impairment losses for loans 4.4 (9,246) (18,942) -51.19% (21,269) (28,349) -24.98%
Impairment of investments/ 

placements
(343) - 100.00% (343) - 100.00%

Loans/financing written-off (49) (851) -94.29% (49) (851) -94.29%
Recoveries of loans/financing 

written-off 
10,984 10,274 6.90% 23,567 21,636 8.92%

Net impairment charges and
allowances 1,346 (9,519) -114.14% 1,906 (7,564) -125.21%

Profit before taxation 62,432 63,092 -1.05% 69,576 68,670 1.32%
Less: income tax expense 10 (5,588) (6,860) -18.54% (10,708) (12,144) -11.83%

Profit after taxation / profit for
the year 56,844 56,232 1.09% 58,868 56,526 4.15%

Bank Group

The significant accounting  policies nod the notes from  pages 37 to 109 from an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.   

Statements of Profit or Loss
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Statements of Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Bank Group

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Profit after taxation / profit for the year 56,844 56,232 58,868 56,526

Other comprehensive  income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the year	 56,844 56,232 58,868 56,526

Statements of Other Comprehensive Income
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The significant accounting  policies nod the notes from  pages 37 to 109 from an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.   

Statements of Financial Position
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Note
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
  Change 2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
Change

2018
B$’000

Change

Restated Restated

Assets
Cash and Short Term

Funds
11 1,345,612 1,679,281 -19.87% 1,356,600 1,685,913 -19.53% 1,953,743 -13.71%

Balances with AMBD 12 - - 0.00% 62,252 53,080 17.28% 57,126 -7.08%
Derivative Assets 13 477 596 -20.06% 477 596 -20.06% 179 232.96%
Government Sukuk 14 79,844 75,553 5.68% 79,844 75,553 5.68% 24,660 206.38%
Investment Securities 15 577,423 80,061 621.22% 577,423 80,061 621.22% 63,033 27.01%
Loans and Advances 16 1,215,968 1,193,611 1.87% 2,017,487 1,979,137 1.94% 2,058,081 -3.84%
Group Balances

Receivable 
17 - 341 -100.00% - - 0.00% - 100.00%

Investments in
Subsidiaries

18 47,949 47,949 0.00% - - 0.00% - -

Other Assets 19 9,375 8,708 7.66% 39,537 36,965 6.99% 38,401 -3.74%
Right-of-use Assets 20 2,326 3,059 -23.94% 3,822 4,960 -22.94% - 100.00%
Property, Plant and

Equipment
21 58,198 50,600 15.02% 59,440 51,497 15.42% 35,700 44.25%

Total Assets 3,337,172 3,139,759 6.29% 4,196,882 3,967,762 5.77% 4,230,923 -6.22%

Liabilities and Equity
Deposits from Customers 22 2,419,904 2,415,529 0.14% 3,476,546 3,320,997 4.68% 3,584,979 -7.36%
Deposits from Banks and

Other Financial 
Institutions

23 337,996 211,804 59.58% 12,056 3.890 209.92% 4,676 -16.81%

Derivative Liabilities 13 76 36 109.01% 76 36 109.01% 124 -70.97%
Borrowings 24 26,521 - 100.00% 26.521 - 100.00% 54,641 100.00%
Lease Liabilities 25 2,445 3,139 -22.12% 4,015 5,089 -21.10% - 100.00%
Group Balances Payable 17 2,191 - 100.00% - - 0.00% - -
Other Liabilities                            26 74,254 71,795 3.42% 84,587 83,923 0.79% 71,407 17.53%
Deferred Taxation                         27 7,446 7,446 0.00% 7,493 7,493 0.00% 8,493 -11.77%
Provision for Taxation 10 15,584 16,449 -5.25% 39.221 40.085 -2.16% 39,880 0.51%

Total Liabilities 2,885,517 2,726,198 5.84% 3,650,515 3,461,513 5.46% 3,764,200 -8.04%

Shareholders’ Equity
Share Capital                                 28 180,000 180,000 0.00% 180,000 180,000 0.00% 150,000 20.00%
Statutory Reserves                        29 144,022 129,811 10.95% 183,639 166,051 10.59% 178,486 -6.97%
Other Reserves 30 127,633 103,750 23.02% 182,728 160,198 14.19% 138,237 15.89%

Total Shareholders’
Funds/ Total Equity 451,655 413,561 9.21% 546,367 506,249 7.92% 466,723 8.47%

Total Liabilities and
Equity

3,337,172 3,139,759 6.29% 4,196,882 3,967,762 5.77% 4,230,923 -6.22%

Off-Balance Sheet Items:

Contingencies and 
Commitments

31 1,078,328 927,298 16.29% 1,078,328 927,298 16.29% 830,449 11.66%

Bank Group

Statements of Financial Position
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The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and signed for and on its behalf.

DirectorDirector Director

Statements of Financial Position
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The significant accounting  policies nod the notes from  pages 37 to 109 from an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.   

Statements of Changes in Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Bank Note

Share
Capital
B$’000

Statutory
Reserve
BS’000

General
Reserve
B$’000

Retained 
Earnings

B$’000

Prudential
Reserve 

for Credit
Losses 

B$’000

Total
Equity

B$’000

Balance as at January 1, 2019 150,000 145,753 5,154 48,140 25,282 374,329

Net profit for the year - - - 56,232 - 56,232

Transfer to:
- Statutory reserve
- Prudential reserve for credit losses
- Increase in share capital

-
-

30,000

14,058
-

(30,000)

-
-
-

(14,058)
23,410

-

-
(23,410)

-

-
-
-

Dividend paid - - - (17,000) - (17,000)

Balance as at December 31, 2019 180,000 129,811 5,154 96,724 1,872 413,561

Net profit for the year - - - 56,844 - 56,844

Transfer to:
- Statutory reserve
- Prudential reserve for credit losses

-
-

14,211
-

-
-

(14,211)
1,490

-
(1,490)

-
-

Dividend paid - - - (18,750) - (18,750)

Balance as at December 31, 2020 180,000 144,022 5,154 122,097 382 451,655

Group Note

Share
Capital
B$’000

Statutory
Reserve
BS’000

General
Reserve
B$’000

Retained 
Earnings

B$’000

Prudential
Reserve 

for Credit
Losses 

B$’000

Total
Equity

B$’000

Balance as at January 1, 2019 as
previously stated

150,000 178,486 5,154 116,713 25,524 475,877

Prior year adjustment - - - (9,154) - (9,154)

Balance as at January 1, 2019 as
stated 150,000 178,486 5,154 107,559 25,524 466,723

Net profit for the year - - - 56,526 - 56,526

Transfer to:
- Statutory reserve
- Prudential reserve for credit losses
- Increase in share capital

-
-

30,000

17,565
-

(30.000)

-
-
-

(17,565)
23,190

-

-
(23,190)

-

-
-
-

Dividend paid - - - (17,000) - (17,000)

Balance as at January 1, 2020 as
previously stated 180,000 166,051 5,154 161,864 2,334 515,403

Prior year adjustment - - - (9,154) - (9,154)

Balance as at January 1, 2020 as
stated

180,000 166,051 5,154 152,710 2,334 506,249

Net profit for the year - - - 58,868 - 58,868

Transfer to:
- Statutory reserve
- Prudential reserve for credit losses

-
-

17,588
-

-
-

(17,588)
1,186

-
(1,186)

-
-

Dividend paid - - - (18,750) - (18,750)

Balance as at December 31, 2020 180,000 183,639 5,154 176,426 1,148 546,367

Retained Earnings

Retained Earnings

Statements of Changes in Equity
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The significant accounting  policies nod the notes from  pages 37 to 109 from an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.   

Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2020

Note
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
  2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation: 62,432 63,092 69,576 68,670
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,885 4,888 6,190 5,198
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,018 1,036 1,528 1,533
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (74) (47) (100) (47)
Net (income)/loss from other financial instruments at fair

value through profit or loss
(253) 328 (253) 328

Interest expense on lease liabilities 145 195 241 313
Impairment of investments/placements 343 - 343 -
Impairment losses for loans 9,246 18,942 21,269 28,349
Increase in accrued expenditure and provisions 2,079 5,531 2,432 5,529

Operating profit before change in operating assets and
liabilities

80,821 93,965 101.226 109,873

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Placements with banks (36,568) 158,731 (172,890) 181,446
Balances with AMBD - - (9,172) 4,046
Derivative assets 119 (417) 119 (417)
Loans and advances (31,603) 50,701 (59,619) 50,595
Other assets (326) 1,307 (2,572) 1,436
Deposits from customers 3,427 (228,414) 155,502 (264,055)
Deposits from banks and other financial institutions 126,192 (14,808) 8,166 (786)
Derivative liabilities 40 (88) 40 (88)
Other liabilities 2,571 (323) (1,767) 6,987

Cash from operating activities 144,673 60,654 19,033 89,037
Income tax paid (6,453) (9,432) (11,572) (12,939)

Net cash from operating activities 138,220 51,222 7,461 76,098

Cash flows used in investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (14,653) (20,346) (15,307) (20,987)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,244 39 1,274 39

Net investments (501,695) (68,176) (501,695) (68,176)

Net cash used in investing activities (515,104) (88,483) (515,728) (89,124)

Cash flows generated from/(used in) financing activities
Drawdown/(repayment) of borrowings 26,521 (54,641) 26,521 (54,641)
Repayment of lease liabilities (1,124) (1,151) (1,705) (1,717)
Dividend paid (18,750) (17,000) (18,750) (17,000)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 6,647 (72,792) 6,066 (73,358)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (370,237) (110,053) (502,201) (86,384)
Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1 1,460,388 1,570,441 1,328,107 1,414,491

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31 1,090,151 1,460,388 825,906 1,328,107

Bank Group

Statements of Cash Flows
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1. General

Baiduri Bank Berhad (the “Bank”) is incorporated in Negara Brunei Darussalam with its principal place of business and 
registered office at Baiduri Bank Headquarters, 1 Jalan Gadong, Bandar Seri Begawan BA1511, Negara Brunei Darussalam. 
The Bank carries on the business of banking and related financial services including dealing in investment securities and 
e-financial services. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on March 17, 2021.

2. Significant accounting policies

2.1	 Basis of financial statements preparation

The financial statements of the Bank and the Group have been prepared in accordance with the Brunei Darussalam 
Companies Act, Cap. 39, the Brunei Darussalam Banking Order, 2006 and the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“TASB”). Details of the Bank’s and the Group’s 
accounting policies, including changes during the year, are included within Note 2.

2.2	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries. 
Control is achieved when the Bank: 

•	 Has power over the investee;

•	 Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Bank reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Bank has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting 
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Bank 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Bank’s voting rights in an investee are 
sufficient to give it power, including:

•	 The size of the Bank’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

•	 Potential voting rights held by the Bank, other vote holders or other parties;

•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

•	 Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Bank has, or does not have, the current ability to direct 
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ 
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Bank obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Bank loses 
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the financial 
year are included in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Bank gains 
control until the date when the Bank ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used 
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the 
members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein.  Those interests of non-
controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets 
upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair 
value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.2	 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially 
measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of 
those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Bank and to the 
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Bank and to the 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries 
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests 
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by 
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Group.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated 
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 
retained interest and (in) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), less liabilities of the subsidiary 
and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that 
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary 
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRS). 
The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair 
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an 
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Bank’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are carried at cost 
less any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

2.3	 Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain investment 
securities and derivative financial instruments classified as held at fair value through profit or loss that have been 
measured at fair value. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Brunei Dollars and all values are rounded 
to the nearest thousand (B$000), except when otherwise indicated. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of 
the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within 
the scope of IFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net 
realisable value in inventories or value in use for assessing impairment of non-financial assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 
access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.
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2.4	 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated 
rebates and other similar allowances.

2.4.1	 Interest

Interest income and expense for all financial instruments, except those measured at fair value through profit and loss 
are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method except for short term receivables/payables when the 
effect of discounting is not significant. The effective interest rate (“EIR”) is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated 
future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the EIR, the Bank estimates 
future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or liability.

Interest income and expense on all trading assets and liabilities that are considered to be incidental to the Bank’s 
trading operations other derivatives held for risk management purposes and other financial assets or liabilities carried 
at fair value through profit or loss are presented together with all other changes in the fair value of trading assets and 
liabilities in net trading income.

2.4.2	 Fees and commission

Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability 
are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate. 

Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, investment management fees, sales commission, 
placement fees and syndication fees, are recognised as the related services are performed. When a loan commitment 
is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, the related loan commitment fees are recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the commitment period. 

Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services 
are received.

2.4.3	 Other operating income

Other operating income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets and liabilities, and includes all realised and 
unrealised fair value changes, interest, dividends and foreign exchange differences.

2.4.4	 Net income from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Net income from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss relates to non-trading derivatives held for 
risk management purposes that do not form part of qualifying hedge relationships and financial assets and liabilities 
designated at fair value through profit or loss. It includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, interest, dividends 
and foreign exchange differences.
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2.5	 Leases

The Group as lessee

‘The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at  inception of  the contract. The Group recognises a 
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, 
except for short-term  leases (defined  as leases with a lease term of  12  months or less) and leases of low value assets. 
For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which the economic 
benefits from the leased assets are consumed.
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its 
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

•	 Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

•	 Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 
commencement date;

•	 The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

•	 The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

•	 Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the 
lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statements of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability 
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use asset) whenever:

•	 the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the 
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

•	 the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed 
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the 
initial discount rate unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a 
revised discount rate is used).

•	 a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the 
lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments 
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, ease payments made at 
or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is 
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is 
recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included 
in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right-of-use asset. If a 
lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to 
exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The 
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
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2.5	 Leases (cont’d)

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the statements of financial position.

The Group applies LAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss in profit or loss. 

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the 
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that 
triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line ‘Other overhead expenses’ in the statement of profit or loss.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for any 
lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has used this practical expedient.

2.6	 Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the Group entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At 
each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

•	 exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, 
which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those 
foreign currency borrowings;

•	 exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

•	 exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is 
neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign 
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss 
on disposal or partial disposal of the net investment.

2.7	 Taxation

The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

2.7.1	 Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation’ as 
reported in the statements of profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain, but it is considered probable 
that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the best estimate of the 
amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement of tax professionals within the Group 
supported by previous experience in respect of such activities and in certain cases based on specialist independent tax 
advice.
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2.7.2	 Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit, and it is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are 
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, a 
deferred tax liability is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled, or the 
asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner 
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends 
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

2.7.3	 Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

2.8	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.9	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their useful lives, using the 
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis.

At each year end, the management reassessed the estimated useful lives of various items of property, plant and 
equipment. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods of significant items of property and 
equipment are as follows:

Freehold Land and Buildings 50 years (buildings)

Leasehold Land and Buildings Over period of the lease

Leasehold Improvements 5 - 20 years

Computers 2 - 15 years

Equipment / Furniture 5 - 10 years

Motor vehicles 5 years
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2.9	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset 
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in 
profit or loss.

2.10	 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably.

2.10.1	 Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is 
considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under 
the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it.

2.11	 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statements of financial position when the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.11.1	 Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets “at fair value through profit or 
loss’ (FVTPL), “fair value through other comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI) and “amortised cost’. The Group assesses the 
classification and measurement of a financial asset based on the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset and 
the Group’s business model for managing the asset. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised 
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost or at FVTOCI

The Group assesses the classification and measurement of a financial asset based on the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the asset and the Group’s business model for managing the asset. 

For an asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, its contractual terms should give rise to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding (SPPI).
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2.11.1	 Financial assets (cont’d)

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost or at FVTOCI (cont’d)

For the purpose of the SPPI test, principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. The principal 
amount may change over the life of the financial assets (e.g. if there are repayments of principal). Interest consists of 
consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a 
particular period of time and for other basis lending risks and costs, as well as a profit margin. The SPPI assessment is 
made in the currency in which the financial asset is denominated.

Contractual cash flows that are SPPI are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Contractual terms that introduce 
exposure to risk or volatility in the contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement, such as 
exposure to changes in equity prices or commodities prices, do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are SPPI. An 
originated or an acquired financial asset can be a basic lending arrangement irrespective of whether it is a loan in its 
legal form.

An assessment of business model for managing financial assets is fundamental to the classification of a financial asset. 
The Group determines the business models at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together 
to achieve a particular business objective. The Group’s business model assessment is performed at a higher level of 
aggregation rather than on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

The Group has more than one business model for managing its financial instruments which reflect how the Group 
manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The Group’s business models determine whether cash flows 
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both.

The Group considers all relevant information available when making the business model assessment. However, this 
assessment is not performed on the basis of scenarios that the Group does not reasonably expect to occur, such as so-
called ‘worse case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios. The Group takes into consideration all relevant evidence available such as:

•	 How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated 
and reported to the entity’s key management personnel; and 

•	 The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) 
and, in particular, the way in which those risks are managed.

At initial recognition of a financial asset, the Group determines whether newly recognised financial assets are part of 
an existing business model or whether they reflect the commencement of a new business model. The Group reassess its 
business models each reporting period to determine whether the business models have changed since the preceding 
period. For the current and prior reporting period the Group has not identified a change in its business models.

When a financial asset, that is not an equity investment, measured at FVTOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain/loss 
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit and loss. In contrast, for an equity investment designated 
as measured at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in OCI is not subsequently reclassified to profit 
and loss but transferred within equity.

Financial assets that are subsequently measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are subject to impairment.

(il) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are:

•	 Assets with contractual cash flows that are not SPPI; or/and

•	 Assets that are held in a business model other than held to collect contractual cash flows or held

•	 to collect and sell; or

•	 Assets designated at FVTPL using the fair value option.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned 
on the financial asset and is included in the ‘net gain/(loss) from Other Financial Instruments at Fair Value through Profit 
or Loss’ line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.
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2.11.1	 Financial assets (cont’d)

(il) Financial assets at FVTPL (cont’d)

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL relating to changes in foreign currency rates and interest income 
calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of financial assets at FVTPL, that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign 
currency and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The foreign exchange gains and 
losses that are recognised in profit or loss are determined based on the amortised cost of the financial asset.

(iii) Reclassifications

If the business model under which the Group holds financial assets changes, the financial assets affected are reclassified. 
The classification and measurement requirements related to the new category apply prospectively from the first day of 
the first reporting period following the change in business model that results in reclassifying the Group’s financial assets. 
During the current financial year and previous accounting period, there was no change in the business model under 
which the Group holds financial assets and therefore no reclassifications were made. Changes in contractual cash flows 
are considered under the accounting policy on Modification and derecognition of financial assets described below.

(iv) Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency 
and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

•	 For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other Operating Income’ line item;

•	 For debt instruments measured at FVTOCI that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences 
on the amortised cost of the debt instrument are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other Operating Income’ line item. 
Other exchange differences are recognised in OCI in the investments revaluation reserve;

•	 For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences 
are recognised in profit or loss either in ‘Net trading income’, if the asset is held for trading, or in ‘Net (loss)/gain from 
other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss’ if otherwise held at FVTPL; and

•	 For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in OCI in the investments revaluation 
reserve.

(v) Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognised loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (“ECLs”) on the following financial instruments that are 
not measured at FVTPL:

•	 Loans and Advances

•	 Government Sukuk

•	 Investment Securities

•	 Loan commitments issued; and

•	 Financial guarantee contracts issued

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.

With the exception of POCI financial assets (which are considered separately below), ECLs are required to be measured 
through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:

•	 12-month ECL i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default events on the financial instrument that are possible within 
12 months after the reporting date (referred to as Stage 1); or

•	 Full lifetime ECL i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial instrument 
(referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).
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2.11.1	 Financial assets (cont’d)

(v) Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risks on that financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments, ECLs are measured at an amount 
equal to the 12-month ECL. More details on the determination of a significant increase in credit risk are provided in Note 
2.11.1 (ix).

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These are measured as the present value 
of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group under the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects 
to receive arising from the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios, discounted at the asset’s EIR.

•	 For undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the difference between the present value of the difference between the 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the holder of the commitment draws down the loans and the cash 
flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn down; and

•	 For financial guarantee contracts, the ECL is the difference between the expected payments to reimburse the holder 
of the guaranteed financial instrument less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the 
debtor or any other party.

The Group measure ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios of loans that share similar economic 
risk characteristics. The measurement of the loss allowance is based on the present value of the asset’s expected cash 
flows using the asset’s original EIR regardless of whether it is measured on an individual basis or a collective basis.

For other financial assets that are carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent 
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of loans and advances, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When 
loans and advances are considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial asset 
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment 
not been recognised.

(vi) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are referred to as Stage 3 assets which 
are past due more than 90 days. Evidence of credit-impairment includes observable data about the following events:

•	 a non-payment of any principal or interest of loans, bonds or sukuks when due;

•	 the Group, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,

•	 having granted to the borrower a concession that the Group would not otherwise consider; and

•	 the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event - instead, the combined effect of several events may have 
caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. The Group assess whether debt instruments that are financial 
assets measured at mortised cost or FVTOCI are credit-impaired at each reporting date. To assess if sovereign and 
corporate debt instruments are credit impaired or significant increase in credit risk, the Group considers factors such as 
bond yields, credit ratings and the ability of the borrower to raise funding etc.
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2.11.1	 Financial assets (cont’d)

(vi) Credit-impaired financial assets (cont’d)

A loan is considered credit-impaired when a concession is granted to the borrower due to a deterioration in the borrower’s 
financial condition, unless there is evidence that as a result of granting the concession, the risk of not receiving the 
contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. For financial assets 
where concessions are contemplated but not granted, the asset is deemed credit impaired when there is observable 
evidence of credit- impairment including meeting the definition of default. The definition of default (see below) includes
unlikeliness to pay indicators and a back-stop if amounts are overdue for more than 90 days.

(vi) Purchased or originated credit-impaired (“POCI”) financial assets

POCI financial assets are treated differently because the asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. For those assets, 
the Group recognises all changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition as a loss allowance with any changes recognised 
in profit or loss. A favourable change for such assets results in an impairment gain.

(vili) Definition of default

Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of default. The definition of default is used in measuring the amount 
of ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is based on 12- month or lifetime ECL, as default is a 
component of the probability of default (“PD”) which affects both the measurement of ECLs and the identification of a 
significant increase in credit risk (see below).

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default:

•	 the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group; or

•	 the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full.

When assessing if the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation, the Group takes into account both qualitative and 
quantitative indicators as highlighted in Note 2.11.1 (vi) above. The definition is applied consistently period to period, and 
reviewed to ensure accurate reflection of what constitutes a default in the current economic environment.

As a result of the changes in the economic environment due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has refreshed its 
list of Unlikely to Pay (“UTP”) criteria to reflect the current UTP indicators that are evident from borrowers’ non-payment 
behaviour in the current economic environment. Additionally, where an increasing amount of balances may be subject 
to longer ‘days past due’, the Group exercises care in applying the 90 dpd rebuttable presumption, especially where 
principal payment holidays are introduced, during which borrowers are permitted to defer certain payments, where such 
payments are no longer past due.

(ix) Significant increase in credit risk

The Group monitors all financial assets, issued loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are subject to 
the impairment requirements to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather 
than 12-month ECL. The Group’s accounting policy is not to use the practical expedient that financial assets with “low” 
credit risk at the reporting date are deemed not to have had a significant increase in credit risk. As a result, the Group 
monitors all financial assets, issued loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are subject to impairment 
for significant increase in credit risk.

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date based on the remaining 
maturity of the instrument with the risk of a default occurring that was anticipated when the financial instrument was 
first recognised. In making this assessment, the Group considers both qualitative and quantitative information that is 
reasonable and supportable including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort. Forward looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which 
the Group’s debtors operate, taking into consideration of potential impact on the COVID-19 outbreak on these various 
industries, obtained from economic expert reports on future outlook, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant 
think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast 
economic information that relate to the Group’s core operations.
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2.11.1	 Financial assets (cont’d)

(ix) Significant increase in credit risk (cont’d)

As a back-stop when an asset is more than 30 days past due, the Group considers that a significant increase in credit 
risk has occurred and the asset is in stage 2 of the impairment model, i.e. the loss allowance is measured as the lifetime 
ECL. However, there may be cases during the COVID-19 outbreak where the Group expects a low correlation of lifetime 
default risks with the 30 days past due rebuttable presumption indicator. For example, where a principal payment 
holiday is granted to an entire class of financial instruments, either by the Group or the government, the ‘blanket’ nature 
of the principal holiday does not discriminate between borrowers and therefore does not provide relevant information to 
staging at the individual exposure level.

In determining indicators of “significant increase in credit risk’ (“SICR”) arising from COVID-19 initiated measures, in 
spite of the 30 days past due rebuttable presumption, the Group assesses affected exposures for other indicators of 
significant increases in lifetime default risks at the end of the reporting period. In the absence of detailed information 
from borrowers during the payment holiday and their broader financial circumstances, alternative assessments are 
made from a combination of the following factors:

•	 distinguishing whether a borrower or borrower group is only experiencing short-term liquidity difficulties and those 
difficulties will be mitigated by the principal payment holiday, perhaps in conjunction with other government reliefs 
that reduce the risk of default, from others whom the Group does not believe that are experiencing only short-term 
liquidity difficulties, for example where they are in a sector likely to suffer longer-term difficulties, they will not benefit 
from government reliefs or reliefs will not reduce their risk of default;

•	 identifying additional data, or more granularity on existing data, to facilitate the determination of riskier customers. 
Examples of sources to such data include adverse news available in the public domain, and recent experiences 
applicable to borrowers of the same demographic profile.

(x) Modification and derecognition of financial assets 

A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a financial asset 
are renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the financial asset. A modification 
affects the amount and/or timing of the contractual cash flows either immediately or at a future date. In addition, the 
introduction of adjustment of existing covenants or an existing loan would constitute a modification even if these new or 
adjusted covenants do not yet affect the cash flows immediately but may affect the cash flows depending on whether 
the covenant is or is not met (e.g. a change to the increase in the interest rate that arises when covenants are breached).

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulty to maximise collection and minimise the risk of default. A 
loan forbearance is granted in cases where although the borrower made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original 
contractual terms, there is a high risk of default or default has already happened and the borrower is expected to be 
able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms in most of the cases include an extension of the maturity of the loan, 
changes to the timing of the cash flows of the loan (principal and interest repayment) and amendments to covenants. 
The Group has an established forbearance policy which applies for corporate and retail.

When a financial asset is modified, the Group assesses whether this modification results in derecognition. In accordance 
with the Group’s policy, a modification results in derecognition when it gives rise to substantially different terms. To 
determine if the modified term is substantially different from the original contractual term, the Group considers the 
following:

•	 Qualitative factors, such as contractual cash flows after modification are no longer SPPI, change in currency or 
change of counterparty, the extent of change in interest rates, maturity, covenants. If these do not clearly indicate a 
substantial modification, then;

•	 A quantitative assessment is performed to compare the present value of the remaining contractual cash flows under 
the original terms with the contractual cash flows under the revised terms, both amounts discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. If the difference in present value is greater than 10%, the Group deems the arrangement is 
substantially different leading to derecognition. When performing a quantitative assessment of a modification or 
renegotiation of a credit-impaired financial asset or a purchased or originated credit-impaired financial asset that 
was subject to write-off, the Group considers the expected (rather than the contractual) cash flows before modification 
or renegotiation and compares those with the contractual cash flows after modification or renegotiation.
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2.11.1	 Financial assets (cont’d)

(x) Modification and derecognition of financial assets (cont’d)

In the case where the financial asset is derecognised, the loss allowance for ECL is remeasured at the date of derecognition 
to determine the net carrying amount of the asset at that date. The difference between this revised carrying amount 
and the fair value of the new financial asset with the new terms will lead to a gain or loss on derecognition. The new 
financial asset will have a loss allowance measured based on 12-month ECL except in the rare occasions where the new 
loan is considered to be originated credit impaired. This applies only in the case where the fair value of the new loan is 
recognised at a significant discount to its revised par amount because there remains a high risk of default which has not 
been reduced by the modification. The Group monitors credit risk of modified financial assets by evaluating qualitative 
and quantitative information, such as if the borrower is in past due status under the new terms.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, the 
Group determines if the financial asset’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition by comparing:

•	 the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the original contractual term; with

•	 the remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms.

The financial assets modified as part of the Group’s forbearance policy, where modification did not result in derecognition, 
the estimate PD reflects the Group’s ability to collect the modified cash flows taking into account the Group’s previous 
experience of similar forbearance action, as well as various behavioural indicators, including the borrower’s payment 
performance against the modified contractual terms. If credit risk remains significantly higher than what was expected 
at initial recognition the loss allowance will continue to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. If a forborne loan 
is credit impaired due to the existence of credit impairment, the Group performs an ongoing assessment to ascertain 
if the problems of the exposure are cured, to determine if the loan is no longer credit-impaired. The loss allowance on 
forborne loans will generally only be measured based on 12-month ECL when there is evidence of the borrower’s improved 
repayment behaviour following modification leading to a reversal of the previous significant increase in credit risk.

Where a modification does not lead to derecognition, the Group calculates the modification gain/loss comparing the 
gross carrying amount before and after the modification (excluding the ECL allowance). Then the Group measures ECL for 
the modified asset, where the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating 
the expected cash shortfalls from the original asset.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire 
(including expiry arising from a modification with substantially different terms), or when it transfers the financial asset 
and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Bank 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the group proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to repurchase 
part of a transferred asset), the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it 
continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair 
values of those parts on the date of the transfer. ‘The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that 
is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative 
gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that 
continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those 
parts.
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2.11.1	 Financial assets (cont’d)

(xi) Write off

Loans and debt securities are written off when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering the financial 
asset (either in its entirety or a portion of it). This is the case when the Group determines that the borrower does not have 
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write off. A 
write off constitutes a derecognition event. The Group may continue to apply enforcement activities to financial assets 
written off. Recoveries resulting from the Group’s enforcement activities will result in impairment gains, which will be 
presented in ‘Impairment Losses for Loans’ in the statements of profit of loss.

(xii) Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statements of financial position

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statements of financial position as follows:

•	 for financial assets measured at mortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

•	 for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statements of financial position as 
the carrying amount is at fair value. However, the loss allowance is included as part of the revaluation amount in the 
investments revaluation reserve; 

•	 for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision; and

•	 where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Group cannot identify 
the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component: the Group presents a 
combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is presented as a deduction from the gross 
carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn 
component is presented as a provision.

2.11.2	 Financial liabilities and equity instruments classifications

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

2.11.3	 Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the entity are recognised when the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

2.11.4	 Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or/as other financial liabilities. For all financial 
liabilities, the amounts presented on the statements of financial position represent all amounts payable including 
interest accruals.

2.11.5	 Financial liabilities at FVTPL  

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or
it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

•	 it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

•	 on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Bank

•	 manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
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2.11.5	 Financial liabilities at FVTPL  (cont’d)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if:

•	 such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 
arise; or

•	 the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and 
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or 
investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

•	 it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire combined 
contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and 
is included in the ‘net gain/(loss) from Other Financial Instruments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss’ line item. Fair value 
is determined in the manner described in Note 4.5.

2.11.6	 Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including borrowings and other payables) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the mortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

2.11.7	 Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 
instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Bank are initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at 
FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

•	 the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFSR 9; and

•	 the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the 
Group’s revenue recognition policies,

The Group has not designated any financial guarantee contracts as at FVTPL

2.11.8	 Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.11.9	 Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risks 
(foreign exchange forward contracts).

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the 
recognition in the statements of profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

2.11.10	 Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition 
of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the contracts are 
not measured at FVTPL.

2.12	 Employee benefits

2.12.1	 Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to 
defined contribution plans are recognised as personnel expenses in profit or loss in the periods during which related 
services are rendered.

The Group contributes to the Tabung Amanah Pekerja (“TAP”) and Supplementary Contributory Pension (“SCP”’) schemes. 
These are the defined contribution plans regulated and managed by the Government of Brunei Darussalam, which 
applies to all local employees.

2.12.2	 Short and long term employee benefits

Short-term employees benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under salary and wages or accumulated 
paid absence if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service 
provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions for end of service benefits are made periodically based on the entitlements of the employees. The provisions 
for end of service benefits are calculated on the basis of the number of years serviced by the employees and are 
charged to the statements of profit or loss in the period in which the entitlements arise.
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2.13	 Standards issued but not yet effective

As at January 1, 2020, the Group adopted all new and revised IFRS Standards, and interpretation of IFRS Standards that 
are effective from the date and are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised IFRS Standards does 
not result in changes to the Group’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the 
current period or prior years.

The following accounting standards have been issued by the IASB but are not yet effective for the Group and earlier 
application is permitted; however, the Group has not early applied the following accounting standards in preparing 
these consolidated financial statements.

  Accounting standards Summary of requirements
Possible impact on 
consolidated financial 
statements

 Amendments to IAS1
 Classification of Liabilities
 as Current or Non-current

The amendments to lAS 1 affect only the presentation of 
liabilities as current or non-current in the statement of 
financial position and not the amount or timing of recognition 
of any asset, liability, income or expenses, or the information 
disclosed about those items.

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as 
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence 
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification 
is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will 
exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability, explain 
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with 
at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition 
of “settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the 
transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, 
other assets or services.

The amendments are applied retrospectively for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early 
application permitted.

The Group does 
not anticipate that 
the application of
amendments to 
IAS 1 will have a 
material impact on 
its consolidated 
financial statements.
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2.13	 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

As at January 1, 2020, the Group adopted all new and revised IFRS Standards, and interpretation of IFRS Standards that 
are effective from the date and are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised IFRS Standards does 
not result in changes to the Group’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the 
current period or prior years.

The following accounting standards have been issued by the IASB but are not yet effective for the Group and earlier 
application is permitted; however, the Group has not early applied the following accounting standards in preparing 
these consolidated financial statements.

 Accounting standards Summary of requirements
Possible impact on 
consolidated financial 
statements

 Amendments to IFRS 3
 Reference to the
 Conceptual Framework 

The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 
Conceptual Framework instead of the 1989 Framework.

They also add to IFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations 
within the scope of IAS 37, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to 
determine whether at the acquisition date a present 
obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that 
would be within the scope of IFRIC 21 Levies, the acquirer 
applies IFRIC 21 to determine whether the obligating event 
that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by 
the acquisition date.

Finally, the amendments add an explicit statement that an 
acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a 
business combination.

The amendments are effective for business combinations for 
which the date of acquisition is on or after the beginning 
of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 
2022. Early application is permitted if an entity also applies 
all other updated references (published together with the 
updated Conceptual Framework) at the same time or earlier.

The Group does 
not anticipate that 
the amendments to
IFRS 3 will have a
material impact 
on its consolidated
financial statements.
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2.13	 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

As at January 1, 2020, the Group adopted all new and revised IFRS Standards, and interpretation of IFRS Standards that 
are effective from the date and are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised IFRS Standards does 
not result in changes to the Group’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the 
current period or prior years.

The following accounting standards have been issued by the IASB but are not yet effective for the Group and earlier 
application is permitted; however, the Group has not early applied the following accounting standards in preparing 
these consolidated financial statements.

 Accounting standards Summary of requirements
Possible impact 
on consolidated 
financial statements

 Amendments to IAS 16
 Property, Plant and
 Equipment Proceeds
 before Intended Use 

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an 
item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from 
selling items produced before that asset is available for 
use, i.e. proceeds while bringing the asset to the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended by management. Consequently, an 
entity recognises such sales proceeds and related costs in 
profit or loss. The entity measures the cost of those items in 
accordance
with IAS2 Inventories.

The amendments also clarify the meaning of ‘testing whether 
an asset is functioning properly’. IAS 16 now specifies this as 
assessing whether the technical and physical performance 
of the asset is such that it is capable of being used in the 
production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, 
or for administrative purposes.

If not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive 
income, the financial statements shall disclose the amounts 
of proceeds and cost included in profit or loss that relate 
to items produced that are not an output of the entity’s 
ordinary activities, and which line item(s) in the statement of 
comprehensive income include(s) such proceeds and cost.

The amendments are applied retrospectively, but only to 
items of property, plant and equipment that are brought to 
the location and condition necessary for them to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management on or 
after the beginning of the earliest period presented in the 
financial statements in which the entity first applies the 
amendments.

The entity shall recognise the cumulative effect of initially 
applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening 
balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, 
as appropriate) at the beginning of that earliest period 
presented.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2022, with early application permitted.

The Group does not
anticipate that the
amendments to IAS
16 will have a
material impact on
its consolidated
financial statements.
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2.13	 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

As at January 1, 2020, the Group adopted all new and revised IFRS Standards, and interpretation of IFRS Standards that 
are effective from the date and are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised IFRS Standards does 
not result in changes to the Group’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the 
current period or prior years.

The following accounting standards have been issued by the IASB but are not yet effective for the Group and earlier 
application is permitted; however, the Group has not early applied the following accounting standards in preparing 
these consolidated financial statements.

 Accounting standards Summary of requirements
Possible impact 
on consolidated 
financial statements

 Annual Improvements
 to IFRS Standards
 2018-2020 

 

IFRS9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that in applying the ‘10 per cent’ 
test to assess whether to derecognise a financial liability, an 
entity includes only fees paid or received between the entity 
(the borrower) and the lender, including fees paid or received 
by either the entity or the lender on the other’s behalf.

The amendment is applied prospectively to modifications 
and
exchanges that occur on or after the date the entity first 
applies the amendment.

The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2022, with early application permitted.

IFRS 16 Leases

The amendment removes the illustration of the reimbursement 
of leasehold improvements.

As the amendment to IFRS 16 only regards an illustrative 
example, no effective date is stated.

The Group does not
anticipate that the
annual improvements 
to IFRS Standards
2018-2020 will have
a material impact
on its consolidated
financial statements.
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3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, the management of the Group is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

‘The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

3.1	 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), 
that the management has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect to the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

•	 Business model assessment: Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI 
and the business model test. The Group determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of financial 
assets are managed together to achieve a particular business objective. The Group monitors financial assets measured 
at mortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their maturity to 
understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the objective of the business for 
which the assets are held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the business model for 
which the remaining financial assets are held continue to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate, whether there 
has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets.

•	 Significant increase of credit risk: As explained in Note 2, ECL is measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL 
for Stage 1 assets, or at lifetime ECL assets for Stage 2 or Stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. IFS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase 
in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk on an asset has significantly increase, the Group takes into account 
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.

•	 Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics: When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the 
financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics. The Group monitors the appropriateness 
of the credit risk characteristics on an ongoing basis to assess whether they continue to be similar. This is required 
in order to ensure that should credit risk characteristics change, there is appropriate re-segmentation of the assets. 
This may result in new portfolios being created or assets moving to an existing portfolio that better reflects the similar 
credit risk characteristics of that group of assets. Re-segmentation of portfolios and movement between portfolios 
is more common when there is a significant increase in credit risk (or when that significant increase reverses) and so 
assets move from 12- month to lifetime ECLs, or vice versa, but it can also occur within portfolios that continue to be 
measured on the same basis of 12-month or lifetime ECLs but the amount of ECL changes because the credit risk of 
the portfolios differ.

•	 Models and assumptions used: The Group uses various models and assumptions in measuring fair value of financial 
assets as well as in estimating ECL. Judgment is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type 
of asset, as well as for determining the assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that relate to key 
drivers of credit risk. See Note 2.11 Financial Instruments and Note 4.4 Financial Risk Management Objectives for more 
details on ECL.

•	 Determination of life of revolving credit facilities: The Group measures ECL considering the risk of default over the 
maximum contractual period. However, for financial instruments such as credit cards, revolving credit facilities and 
overdraft facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment component, the Group’s contractual ability 
to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the Group’s exposure to credit losses 
to the contractual notice period. For such financial instruments the Group measures ECL over the period that it is 
exposed to credit risk and ECL would not be mitigated by credit risk management actions, even if that period extends 
beyond the maximum contractual period.
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3.1	 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (cont’d)

The following are key estimations that the management have used in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

•	 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product/market 
and determining the forward looking information relevant to each scenario: When measuring ECL, the Group uses 
reasonable and supportable forward looking information which is based on assumptions for the future movement of 
different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other.

•	 Probability of default: PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default 
over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future 
conditions.

•	 Loss Given Default: LD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from accepted 
collateral by the Group. The calculation is on a discounted cash flow basis where the cash flows are discounted by 
the original EIR of the loan.

•	 Fair value measurement and valuation process: In estimating the fair value of a financial asset or a liability, the Group 
uses market observable data to the extend it is available. Where such level 1 inputs are not available, the Group uses 
valuation models to determine the fair value of its financial instruments.

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management objectives

4.1	 Capital management

The Group’s regulator, Autoriti Monetari Brunei Darussalam (“AMBD”) sets and monitors capital requirements for the 
Group.

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to 
sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognised 
and the Group recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with 
greater gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. The Group’s overall strategy 
remains unchanged from the previous financial year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity of the Bank and its subsidiaries (comprising issued capital, reserves, 
and retained earnings).

The Group has complied with all imposed capital requirements for the financial years ended December 31, 2019 and 
2020. Management monitors capital based on “capital funds” as defined under the Brunei Darussalam Banking Order, 
2006.

Bank Group

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Restated
Capital
Core Capital (Tier I Capital) 432,655 394,811 527,367 487,499
Supplementary Capital (Tier I Capital) 11,050 19,631 15,382 25,417
Less: Investment in Subsidiaries (47,949) (47,949) - -

Total Capital base 395,756 366,493 542,749 512,916

Risk-weighted amount
Risk-weighted amount for Credit Risk 1,632,989 1,570,495 2,293,444 2,206,900
Risk-weighted amount for Operational Risk 267,148 265,271 322,211 324,674

Risk-weighted amount for Market Risk 3,264 1,802 3,194 1,779

Total Risk-weighted amount 1,903,401 1.837.568 2,618,849 2,533,353

Capital Ratios

Core Capital (Tier I) Ratio, % 22.73% 21.49% 20.14% 19.24%

Total Capital Ratio, % 20.79% 19.94% 20.72% 20.25%
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4.2	 Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019

Bank

Mandatory
At Fair
Value

Through
Profit or

Loss
B$’000

At
Amortised

Cost
B$’000

Total
Carrying
Amount
B$’000

Mandatory
At Fair
Value

Through
Profit or

Loss
B$’000

At
Amortised

Cost
B$’000

Total
Carrying
Amount
B$’000

Financial Assets
Cash and Short Term Funds - 1,345,612 1,345,612 - 1,679,281 1,679,281
Derivative Assets 477 - 477 596 - 596
Government Sukuk - 79,844 79,844 - 75,553 75,553
Investment Securities 54,640 522,783 577 423 14,725 65,336 80,061
Loans and Advances - 1,215,968 1,215,968 - 1,193,611 1,193,611
Group Balances Receivable - - - - 341 341
Others Assets - 7,791 7.791 - 6,984 6,984

Total Financial Assets 55,117 3,171,998 3,227,115 15,321 3,021,106 3,036,427

Financial Liabilities
Deposits from Customers 4,142 2,414,862 2,419,004 14,540 2,400,989 2.415 529
Deposits from Banks and 
Other Financial Institutions - 337,996 337,996 - 211,804 211,804
Derivative Liabilities 76 - 76 3 - 36
Borrowings - 26,521 26,521 - - -
Lease Liabilities - 2,145 2,445 - 3,139 3,139
Group Balances Payable - 2,191 2,191 - - -
Other Liabilities - 64,942 64,942 - 63,400 63,400

Total Financial Liabilities 4,218 2,848,957 2,853,175 14.576 2,679,332 2,693,908
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2020 2019

Group

Mandatory
At Fair
Value

Through
Profit or

Loss
B$’000

At
Amortised

Cost
B$’000

Total
Carrying
Amount
B$’000

Mandatory
At Fair
Value

Through
Profit or

Loss
B$’000

At
Amortised

Cost
B$’000

Total
Carrying
Amount
B$’000

Financial Assets
Cash and Short Term Funds - 1,356,600 1,356,600 - 1,685,913 1,685,913
Balances with AMBD - 62,252 62,252 - 53,080 53.080
Derivative Assets 477 - 477 596 - 596
Government Sukuk - 79,844 79,844 - 75.553 75,553
Investment Securities 54,640 522,783 577,423 14,725 65.336 80,061
Loans and Advances - 2,017,487 2,017,487 - 1,979,137 1,979,137
Others Assets - 37,889 37,889 - 35,163 35,163

Total Financial Assets 55,117 4,076,855 4,131,972 15,321 3,894,182 3,909,503

Financial Liabilities
Deposits from Customers 4,142 3,472,404 3,476,546 14,540 3,306,457 3,320,997
Deposits from Banks and 
Other Financial Institutions - 12,056 12,056 - 3,890 3,890
Derivative Liabilities 76 - 76 36 - 36
Borrowings - 26,521 26,521 - - -
Lease Liabilities - 4,015 4,015 - 5,089 5,089
Other Liabilities - 73,014 73,014 - 73,386 73,386

Total Financial Liabilities 4,218 3,588,010 3,592,228 14,576 3,388,822 3,403,398

4.2	 Categories of financial instruments (cont’d)
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Bank and Group

Gross amounts 
of Recognised 

Financial 
Assets/Liabilities

B$’000

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

Financial Liabilities 
/ Assets set off in 

the Statements of 
Financial Position 

B$‘000

Net amounts of 
Financial Assets 
presented in the 

Statements of 
Financial 
Positions

B$‘000

Financial 
Instruments 

B$’000

Cash 
Collateral 

received
B$’000

Net
amounts

B$’000

2020

Type of Financial Asset

Other Assets:
Rental income receivable 1 - 1 - 1 -

1 - 1 - 1 -

Type of Financial Liability
Other Liabilities:

Refundable deposits 
from Tenants

11 - 11 - 11 10

11 - 11 - 11 10

2019

Type of Financial Asset

Other Assets:
Rental income receivable

11 - 11 - 11 -

11 - 11 - 11 -

Type of Financial Liability
Other Liabilities:

Refundable deposits
from Tenants

11 - 11 - 11 -

11 - 11 - 11 -

4.3	 Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar 	
	 arrangements

Related amounts not set off in the 
statements of financial positions
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives

The Group has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments:

•	 Credit risk;

•	 Liquidity risk;

•	 Market risk; and

•	 Operational risk.
	
Risk management framework

The Group’s Board of Directors has appointed the Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) to fulfil its oversight responsibilities 
of the Group’s risk management framework. The Group’s risk management framework seeks to ensure that strategies, 
policies, processes and procedures are in place to identify, assess, measure, manage and monitor its material financial, 
operational and other risk exposures.

A separate Group Audit Committee (“GAC”) provides the Board of Directors independent assurance over the Group’s 
governance, risk management and internal control practices.

The Board delegates to the Executive Committee (“EXCO”) authority to approve limits related to credit and treasury 
activities, including policies to govern the management of credit, liquidity and market risks.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems 
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group through its training 
and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in 
which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The GAC and RMC oversee senior management’s compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures, 
as well as review the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.

The Group’s risk management framework adopts the principle of “Three Lines of Defence”

The first line of defence – business line management including support functions - is directly responsible for identifying 
and managing day-to-day risks inherent in its activities. The second line of defence is provided by the Group Risk 
Department which oversees the effectiveness and integrity of the Group’s risk management framework and assists the 
MC in its risk oversight responsibilities. The third line of defence involves the Internal Audit function to provide independent 
assurance to the GAC on the effectiveness and quality of governance, risk management and internal control processes.
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial losses to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s loans and advances to customers and investment 
debt securities. For risk management reporting purposes, the Group considers and consolidates all elements of credit 
risk exposures (such as individual obligor default risk and sector risk).

The Board delegates responsibility to the RMC to oversee the management of credit risk, while the EXCO approves major 
prudential policies and limits that govern large customer exposures and industry concentration.

The EXCO appoints the Group’s Credit Committee who would work with the business lines to ensure that approved 
policies are applied appropriately and optimal returns on the Group’s risk exposure are being achieved.

The Group takes a prudent view when granting credits. All credit exposures in the group are individually assessed and 
approved within the internal credit and lending policies, and in compliance with the local regulatory guidelines. In respect 
of its lending-related activities, management regularly reviews the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower 
or groups of borrowers, the industry segments, the risks of non-performing loans and the adequacy of provisioning. The 
Group does not endorse providing credit facilities in support of illegal activities, prohibited or unlicensed businesses, or 
any other activities deemed to pose unacceptable environment, ethical, social or reputational risk to the Group and the 
wider community.

The Group recognises credit risk mitigation by obtaining collateral however such collateral does not act as a substitute 
in the credit granting process. Some of the assets typically included as collateral are properties, assignment of leases 
and rental income, assignment of contract payments, salaries and deposit placements.

The Group uses forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort in its assessment of significant 
increase of credit risk as well as in its measurement of ECL. The Group uses external and internal information to generate 
a “base-case”, “’upside” and “downside” scenario of future forecast of relevant economic variables along with a 
representative range of other possible forecast scenarios. The external information used includes economic data and 
forecasts published by governmental bodies and monetary authorities.

The Group applies probabilities to the forecast scenarios identified. The Group performed a sensitivity analysis on how 
ECL on the main portfolios will change if the key assumption to the downside weight to the weighted ECL increased by 
10%. The total weighted ECL should then be increased by B$ 338,000 (2019, as restated: B$ 94,000) based on the above 
assumption.

Measurement of ECL
The key inputs used for measurement ECL are:

•	 Probability of default (“PD”);

•	 Loss given default (“LGD”); and

•	 Exposure at default (“EAD”)

These figures are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other historical data and they are 
adjusted to reflect probability weighted forward looking information.

PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. It is estimated as at a point in time. For investment 
securities, the calculation is based on statistical models and assessed using rating tools tailored to the various 
categories of counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are based on market data (where available and 
applicable), as well as internal data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. PDs are estimated considering 
the contractual maturities of exposures and estimated prepayment rates. The estimation is based on current conditions, 
adjusted to take into account estimates of future conditions that will impact the PD.
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due 
and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from accepted collateral by the Group. 
The calculation is on a discounted cash flow basis where the cash flows are discounted by the original EIR of the loan.

EAD is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date taking into account expected changes in the exposure after 
the reporting date including repayments of principal and interest and expected drawdowns on committed facilities.

The Group measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period over which the entity is 
exposed to credit risk. The measurement of ECL is based on probabilities weighted average credit loss.

When ECL are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk 
characteristics that include instruments type, collateral type and industry. The groupings are reviewed on a regular basis 
to ensure that each group is comprised of homogenous exposures.

Credit Quality

The Group monitors credit risk per class of financial instrument. The table below outlines the classesidentified, as well as 
the financial instrument line item.

Class of Financial Instrument Financial Statement line

Loans and Advances to customers at amortised cost Loans and Advances

Government Sukuk at amortised cost Government Sukuk

Investment Securities at mortised cost Investment Securities

Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts Other Liabilities - Provision

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



65

4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)
	
Concentration of credit risk

The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk from loans and 
advances and other commitments is shown below.

Loans and Advances
Contigencies and

Other Commitments Total

Bank
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000

Agriculture 7.426 3,997 4,270 3,381 11,696 7,378
Constructions and 

Property Financing
472,720 464,690 44,423 82,231 517,143 546,921

Financial - - 75,269 64,857 75,269 64,857
Infrastructure 5,665 5,186 66,793 3,842 72,458 9,028
Manufacturing 79,983 49,839 96,866 81,990 176,849 131,829
Personal and Consumption  Loans 175,245 206,523 26,311 9,802 201,556 216,325
Services 289,809 176,039 275,393 361,479 565,202 537,518
Telecommunication and 

Information Technology 2,444 6,916 122,520 6,190 124,964 13,106

Tourism 18,439 20,248 15,003 3,563 33,442 23,811
Traders 145,983 174,794 193,691 137,762 339,674 312,556
Transportation 91,904 172,168 157,789 172,201 249,693 344,369

Total 1,289,618 1,280,400 1,078,328 927,298 2,367,946 2,207,698

Loans and Advances
Contigencies and

Other Commitments Total

Group
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000

Agriculture 7.426 3,997 4,270 3,381 11,696 7,378
Constructions and 

Property Financing
472,720 464,690 44,423 82,231 517,143 546,921

Financial - - 75,269 64,857 75,269 64,857
Infrastructure 5,665 5,186 66,793 3,842 72,458 9,028
Manufacturing 79,983 49,839 96.866 81,990 176,849 131,829
Personal and Consumption  Loans 175,245 206,523 26,311 9,802 201,556 216,325
Services 289,809 176,039 275,393 361,479 565,202 537,518
Telecommunication and 

Information Technology 2,444 6,916 122,520 6,190 124,964 13,106

Tourism 18,439 20,248 15,003 3,563 33,442 23,811
Traders 145,983 174,794 193,691 137,762 339,674 312.556
Transportation 912,732 974,816 157,789 172,201 1,070,521 1,147,017

Total 2,110,446 2,083,048 1,078,328 927,298 3,188,774 3,010,346
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Total Credit Exposure Non-Performing Loans %

Bank
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
2020 2019

Agriculture 11,696 7,378 - - 0.00% 0.00%
Constructions and 

Property Financing 517,143 546,921 23,460 28,066 4.54% 5.13%
Financial 75,269 64,857 - - 0.00% 0.00%
Infrastructure 72,458 9,028 - - 0.00% 0.00%
Manufacturing 176,849 131,829 927 1,558 0.52% 1.18%
Personal and Consumption  Loans 201,556 216,325 7,710 16,908 3.83% 7.82%
Services 565,202 537,518 4,841 7,012 0.86% 1.30%
Telecommunication and 

Information Technology 124,964 13,106 246 723 0.20% 5.52%

Tourism 33,442 23,811 - 542 0.00% 2.28%
Traders 339,674 312,556 30,952 29,646 9.11% 9.49%
Transportation 249,693 344,369 488 491 0.20% 0.14%

Total 1,289,618 2,207,698 68,624 84,946

Total Credit Exposure Non-Performing Loans %

Group
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
2020 2019

Agriculture 11,696 7,378 - - 0.00% 0.00%
Constructions and 

Property Financing
517,143 546,921 23,460 28,066 4.54% 5.13%

Financial 75,269 64,857 - - 0.00% 0.00%
Infrastructure 72,458 9,028 - - 0.00% 0.00%
Manufacturing 176,849 131,829 927 1,558 0.52% 1.18%
Personal and Consumption  Loans 201,556 216,325 7,710 16,908 3.83% 7.82%
Services 565,202 537,518 4,841 7,012 0.86% 1.30%
Telecommunication and 

Information Technology 124,964 13,106 246 723 0.20% 5.52%

Tourism 33,442 23,811 - 542 0.00% 2.28%
Traders 339,674 312,556 30,952 29,646 9.11% 9.49%
Transportation 1,070,521 1,147,017 17,343 9,422 1.62% 0.82%

Total 3,188,774 3,010,346 85,479 93,877
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)
	
Non-performing loans and advances

The Bank and the Group regards a loan and advance as non-performing if it is in arrears for more than 3 months or if there 
is objective evidence of impairment.
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December 31, 2020

Bank

Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL

B$’000
POCI

B$’000
Total

B$’000

Non past due 1,159,496 59,142 12,521 1,888 1,233,047
Month-in-arrear1 - 1,298 1,187 109 2,594
Month- in-arrear 2 - 1,058 657 19 1,734
Month-in-arrear 3 and above - - 48,576 3,667 52,243

Total gross carrying amount 1,159,496 61,498 62,941 5,683 1,289,618

Loss allowances (11,050) (16,065) (45,494) (1,041) (73,650)

Net carrying amount 1,148,446 45,433 17,447 4,642 1,215,968

December 31, 2019

Bank

Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL

B$’000
POCI

B$’000
Total

B$’000

Non past due 1,172,480 15,426 5,044 2,409 1,195,359
Month-in-arrear1 - 4.425 1,467 21 5,913
Month- in-arrear 2 - 3,123 885 - 4,008
Month-in-arrear 3 and above - - 71,420 3,700 75,120

Total gross carrying amount 1,172,480 22,974 78,816 6,130 1,280,400

Loss allowances (23,065) (8,833) (54,230) (661) (86,789)

Net carrying amount 1,149,415 14,141 24,586 5,469 1,193,611

December 31, 2020

Group

Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL

B$’000
POCI

B$’000
Total

B$’000

Non past due 1,882,229 75,825 16,205 1,941 1,976,200
Month-in-arrear1 - 58,784 4,244 120 63,148
Month- in-arrear 2 - 8,129 2,262 21 10,412
Month-in-arrear 3 and above - - 57.019 3,667 60,686

Total gross carrying amount 1,882,229 142,738 79,730 5,749 2,110,446

Loss allowances (16,776) (23,328) (51,791) (1,064) (92,959)

Net carrying amount 1,865,453 119,410 27,939 4,685 2,017,487

4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)
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This table summarises the loss allowance as of the year end by class of exposure/asset.

This table summarises the movements in loss allowances that are recognised in profit or loss during the year by class 
of exposure/asset.

December 31, 2019

Group

Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL

B$’000
POCI

B$’000
Total

B$’000

Non past due 1,866,132 15,426 5,044 1,888 1,889,192
Month-in-arrear1 - 90,905 1,467 33 92,405
Month- in-arrear 2 - 16,708 885 - 17,593
Month-in-arrear 3 and above - - 80,158 3,700 83,858

Total gross carrying amount 1,159,496 61,498 87,554 6,323 2,083,048

Loss allowances as restated (25,418) (18,288) (59,483) (722) (103,911)

Net carrying amount as restated 1,840,714 104,751 28,071 5,601 1,979,137

Bank Group

2020
B$’000

2020
B$’000

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Restated

Loan and Advances 72,682 85,184 91,991 102,306
Loan Commitments 904 1,439 904 1,439
Financial Guarantee Contracts 64 166 64 166

Total 73,650 86,789 92,959 103,911

Bank Group

2020
B$’000

2020
B$’000

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Loan and Advances 9,883 19,100 21,906 28,507
Loan Commitments (535) (126) (535) (126)
Financial Guarantee Contracts (102) (32) (102) (32)

Total 9.246 18,942 21,269 28,349

4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)
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Bank
Stage 1
B$’000

Stage 2
B$’000

Stage 3
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Gross carrying amount as at January 1, 2020 1,172,480 22,974 78,816 6,130 1,280,400

Changes in the Gross carrying amount

•	 Transfer to stage 1 5,557 (3,301) (2,256) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 (38,621) 39,681 (1,060) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 (4,522) (3,122) 7,644 - -

•	 Decrease during the year (94,107) (6,061) (60) (340) (100,568)

•	 Change due to modifications that did not result 
in derecognition 

(3,019) (2,498) 6,171 372 1,026

New financial assets originated or purchased 369,320 18,801 224 - 388,345

Financial assets that have been derecognised (247,592) (4,964) (4,319) (325) (257,200)

Write offs - (12) (22,219) (154) (22,385)

Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2020 1,159,496 61,498 62,941 5,683 1,289,618

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2020 (10,591) (15,599) (45,460) (1,032) (72,682)

Loan and advances

Bank
Stage 1
B$’000

Stage 2
B$’000

Stage 3
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Gross carrying amount as at January 1, 2019 1,239,686 17,751 104,010 9,681 1,371,128

Changes in the Gross carrying amount

•	 Transfer to stage 1 3,349 (2,894) (455) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 (15,803) 15,809 (6) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 (5,135) (5,444) 10,579 - -

•	 Increase/(Decrease) during the year (145,300) (1,260) 996 (1,703) (147,267)

•	 Change due to modifications that did not result 
in derecognition 

(3,829) 213 3,833 222 439

New financial assets originated or purchased 298,335 3,850 598 - 302,783

Financial assets that have been derecognised (198,809) (5,051) (1,588) (357) (205,805)

Write offs (14) - (39,151) (1,713) (40,878)

Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2019 1,172,480 22,974 78,816 6,130 1,280,400

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2019 (21,471) (8,822) (54,230) (661) (85,184)

4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

The table below sets out a reconciliation of changes in the carrying amount of loans and advances.
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Group
Stage 1
B$’000

Stage 2
B$’000

Stage 3
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Gross carrying amount as at January 1, 2020 1,866,132 123,039 87,554 6,323 2,083,048

Changes in the Gross carrying amount

•	 Transfer to stage 1 42,600 (39,983) (2,617) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 (82,520) 84,097 (1,577) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 (11,494) (13,556) 25,050 - -

•	 Increase/(Decrease) during the year (228,419) (23,751) (3,490) (369) (256,029)

•	 Change due to modifications that did not result 
in derecognition 

(3,019) (2,498) 6,171 372 1,026

•	 New financial assets originated or purchased 611,677 35,217 2,150 - 649,044

Financial assets that have been derecognised (309,945) (13,602) (4,808) (355) (328,710)

Write offs (2,783) (6,225) (28,703) (222) (37,933)

Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2020 1,882,229 142,738 79,730 5,749 2,110,446

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2020 (14,922) (24,257) (51,757) (1,055) (91,991)

Group
Stage 1
B$’000

Stage 2
B$’000

Stage 3
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Gross carrying amount as at January 1, 2019 1,936,416 123,975 114,797 10,205 2,185,293

Changes in the Gross carrying amount

•	 Transfer to stage 1 38,540 (37,399) (1,141) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 (68,309) 69,058 (749) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 (9,116) (10,435) 19,551 - -

•	 Increase/(Decrease) during the year (287,217) (22,503) 1,790 (1,929) (309,859)

•	 Change due to modifications that did not result 
in derecognition 

(3,829) 213 3,833 222 439

•	 New financial assets originated or purchased 525,812 20,902 2,179 - 548,893

Financial assets that have been derecognised (262,082) (14,295) (2,137) (400) (278,914)

Write offs (4,083) (6,477) (50,469) (1,775) (62,804)

Gross carrying amount as at December 31, 2019 1,866,132 123,039 87,554 6,323 2,083,048

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2019 as restated (23,824) (18,277) (59,483) (722) (102,306)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Bank and Group
Stage 1
B$’000

Stage 2
B$’000

Stage 3
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Total amount committed as at January 1, 2020 481,806 233 - - 482,039

Changes in amount committed

•	 Transfer to stage 1 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 (568) 568 - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 (27) - 27 - -

•	 Increase/(Decrease) during the year (6,470) 1,085 343 171 (4,871)

•	 Change due to modifications that did not result in 
derecognition 

- - 194 345 539

New loan commitments originated or purchased 255,323 20,959 - - 276,282

Loan commitments that have been derecognised (205,065) (213) - - (205,278)

Total amount committed as at December 31, 2020 524,999 22,632 564 516 548,711

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2020 (425) (465) (5) (9) (904)

Bank and Group
Stage 1
B$’000

Stage 2
B$’000

Stage 3
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Total amount committed as at January 1, 2019 432,590 - - - 432,590

Changes in amount committed

•	 Transfer to stage 1 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 (167) 167 - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 0 - - - -

•	 (Decrease)/Increase during the year (14,617) 18 - - (14,599)

•	 Change due to modifications that did not result in 
derecognition 

- - - - -

New loan commitments originated or purchased 128,745 48 - - 128,793

Loan commitments that have been derecognised (64,745) - - - (64,745)

Total amount committed as at December 31, 2019 481,806 233 - - 482,039

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2019 (1,427) (12) - - (1,439)

4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

The table below sets out a reconciliation of changes in the carrying amount of loan commitments.	

Loan commitments

Loan commitments
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

The table below sets out a reconciliation of changes in the carrying amount of financial guarantees.

Bank and Group
Stage 1
B$’000

Stage 2
B$’000

Stage 3
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Total amount guaranteed as at January 1, 2020 19,300 - - - 19,300

Changes in amount committed

•	 Transfer to stage 1 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 (10) - 10 - -

•	 Decrease during the year (398) - - - (398)

•	 Change due to modifications that did not result in 
derecognition

- - - - -

New financial guarantees originated or purchased 6,070 5 54 - 6,129

Financial guarantees that have been derecognised (9,226) - - - (9,226)

Total amount guaranteed as at December 31, 2020 15,736 5 64 - 15,805

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2020 (34) (1) (29) - (64)

Bank and Group
Stage 1
B$’000

Stage 2
B$’000

Stage 3
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Total amount guaranteed as at January 1, 2019 22,853 - - - 22,853

Changes in amount committed

•	 Transfer to stage 1 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 - - - - -

•	 Increase during the year 455 - - - 455

•	 Change due to modifications that did not result in 
derecognition

- - - - -

New financial guarantees originated or purchased 2,777 - - - 2,777

Financial guarantees that have been derecognised (6,785) - - - (6,785)

Total amount guaranteed as at December 31, 2019 19,300 - - - 19,300

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2019 (166) - - - (166)

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

The table below sets out a reconciliation of changes in the loss allowances of Loans and Advances.

Bank

Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL

B$’000
POCI

B$’000
Total

B$’000

Loss allowances as at January 1, 2020 21,471 8,822 54,230 661 85,184

Write offs - (13) (22,219) (153) (22,385)

Increase/ (Decrease) in allowance recognised in 
Profit or Loss

Changes in Loss allowances

•	 Transfer to stage 1 3,498 (2,294) (1,204) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 (635) 875 (240) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 (76) (859) 935 - -

•	 Increase/(Decrease) due to change in credit risk (10,621) 6,870 13,052 714 10,015

•	 Changes due to modifications that did not result in 
derecognition

(60) (565) 2,597 - 2,063

New financial assets originated or purchased 3,779 5,190 106 91 9,075
Financial assets that have been derecognised (6,765) (2,427) (1,797) (281) (11,270)

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2020 10,591 15,599 45,460 1,032 72,682

Bank

Stage 1 
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL

B$’000
POCI

B$’000
Total

B$’000

Loss allowances as at January 1, 2019 20,028 10,163 75,906 14 106,111

Write offs (14) - (38,300) (1,713) (40,027)

Increase/ (Decrease) in allowance recognised in 
Profit or Loss

Changes in Loss allowances

•	 Transfer to stage 1 2,144 (1,800) (344) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 (269) 274 (5) - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 (84) (3,126) 3,210 - -

•	 Increase/(Decrease) due to change in credit risk (4,543) 4,646 12,792 2,317 15,212

•	 Changes due to modifications that did not result in 
derecognition

(61) (73) 2,222 - 2,088

New financial assets originated or purchased 7,830 1,605 307 - 9,742
Financial assets that have been derecognised (3,560) (2,867) (1,558) 43 (7,942)

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2019 21,471 8,822 54,230 661 85,184

Loss allowances - Loans and Advances

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Group Note

Stage 1
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime 

ECL 
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Loss allowances as at January 1, 2020, as previously 
stated

22,362 12,155 57,907 728 93,152

Prior year adjustment 34 1,462 6,122 1,576 (6) 9,154

Loss allowances as at January 1, 2020, as restated 23,824 18,277 59,483 722 102,306

write-offs (10) (5,808) (26,227) (176) (32,221)

Increase/(Decrease) in allowance recognised in 
Profit  or Loss

Changes in Loss allowances

- Transfer to stage 1 7,262 (5,834) (1,428) - -

- Transfer to stage 2 (784) 1,279 (495) - -

- Transfer to stage 3 (100) (1,839) 1,939 - -

- Increase/(Decrease) due to change in credit risk (13,304) 14,914 17,158 711 19,479

- Changes due to modifications that did not result in
derecognition

(60) (565) 2,597 91 2,063

New financial assets originated or purchased 5,071 6,914 834 - 12,819

Financial assets that have been derecognised (6,977) (3,081) (2,104) (293) (12,455)

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2020 14,922 24,257 51,757 1,055 91,991

Group Note

Stage 1
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime 

ECL 
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Loss allowances as at January 1, 2019, as previously stated 20,989 14,110 81,095 101 116,295

Prior year adjustment 34 1,443 5,928 1,718 65 9,154

Loss allowances as at January 1, 2019, as restated 22,432 20,038 82,813 166 125,449

write-offs (28) (728) (49,162) (1,732) (51,650)

Increase/(Decrease) in allowance recognised in 
Profit  or Loss

Changes in Loss allowances

- Transfer to stage 1 5,900 (5,022) (878) - -

- Transfer to stage 2 (450) 830 (380) - -

- Transfer to stage 3 (98) (3,562) 3,660 - -

- Increase/(Decrease) due to change in credit risk (8,696) 6,709 22,180 2,253 22,446

- Changes due to modifications that did not result in
derecognition

(61) (73) 2,222 - 2,088

New financial assets originated or purchased 8,603 3,692 1,174 - 13,469

Financial assets that have been derecognised (3,778) (3,607) (2,146) 35 (9,496)

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2019, as restated 23,824 18,277 59,483 722 102,306

4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Loss allowances - Loan and advances (cont’d)

Certain reclassification to prior year’s figures in the above table was made to enhance comparability with current 
year’s figures.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Bank and Group

Stage 1
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime 

ECL 
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Loss allowances as at January 1, 2020 1,427 12 - - 1,439

Increase/ (Decrease) in allowance recognised in Profit or Loss

Changes in the Loss allowances

•	 Transfer to stage 1 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 (1) 1 - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 - - - - -

•	 Increase/(Decrease) during the year (272) 24 5 5 (238)

•	 Changes due to modifications that did not result in 
derecognition - - - 4 4

New loan commitments originated or purchased 260 440 - - 700

Loan commitments that have been derecognised (989) (12) - - (1,001)

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2020 425 465 5 9 904

4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

The table below sets out a reconciliation of changes in the loss allowances of financial guarantees.

Credit risk (cont’d)

Loss allowances - Loan commitments

Loss allowances - Loan commitments

Bank and Group

Stage 1
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime 

ECL 
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Loss allowances as at January 1, 2019 1,565 1,565

Increase/ (Decrease) in allowance recognised in Profit or Loss

Changes in the Loss allowances

•	 Transfer to stage 1 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 - - - - -

•	 Increase/(Decrease) during the year (59) 11 - - (48)

•	 Changes due to modifications that did not result in 
derecognition - - - - -

New loan commitments originated or purchased 528 1 - - 529

Loan commitments that have been derecognised (607) - - - (607)

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2019 1,427 12 - - 1,439

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Bank and Group

Stage 1
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime 

ECL 
B$’000

POCI
B$’000

Total
B$’000

Loss allowances as at January 1, 2020 166 - - - 166

Increase/ (Decrease) in allowance recognised in Profit or Loss

Changes in the Loss allowances

•	 Transfer to stage 1 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 - - - - -

•	 Increase/(Decrease) during the year (66) - 2 - (64)

•	 Changes due to modifications that did not result in 
derecognition

- - - - -

New financial guarantees originated or purchased 13 1 27 - 41

Financial guarantees that have been derecognised (79) - - - (79)

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2020 34 1 29 - 64

4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

The table below sets out a reconciliation of changes in the loss allowances of financial guarantees.

Credit risk (cont’d)

Loss allowances - Financial guarantees

Loss allowances - Financial guarantees

Bank and Group

Stage 1
12-month 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 2
Lifetime 

ECL
B$’000

Stage 3
Lifetime 

ECL B$’000
POCI

B$’000
Total

B$’000

Loss allowances as at January 1, 2019 198 - - - 198

Increase/ (Decrease) in allowance recognised in Profit or Loss

Changes in the Loss allowances

•	 Transfer to stage 1 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 2 - - - - -

•	 Transfer to stage 3 - - - - -

•	 Decrease during the year 4 - - - 4

•	 Changes due to modifications that did not result in 
derecognition - - - - -

New financial guarantees originated or purchased 24 - - - 24

Financial guarantees that have been derecognised (60) - - - (60)

Loss allowances as at December 31, 2019 166 - - - 166

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Loans with renegotiated terms and the Bank’s forbearance practice 

When there is deterioration in the borrower’s financial position, loans may be restructured with renegotiated terms where 
the Group has made concessions by agreeing to terms and conditions that are more favourable for the borrower than the 
Group has provided initially. The Group implements forbearance practice in order to maximise collection opportunities 
and minimise the risk of default. Under the Group’s forbearance practice, loan forbearance is granted on an elective 
basis in situations where the debtor is currently in default on its debt, or where there is a high risk of default.

The revised terms usually include extending maturity, changing timing of interest payments and amendments to the 
terms of loan covenants.

Both retail and corporate loans are subject to the forbearance practice.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a loan and advances balance, and any related allowances for impairment losses, when the Group’s 
management determines that the loan or security is uncollectible, and all necessary actions have been taken. This 
determination is made after considering information such as the borrower’s / issuer’s latest financial position and 
chances of its ability to settle the obligation, the legal status, and /or proceeds from other collateral is minimum and will 
not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Renegotiated loans and advances 9,972 4,671 15,082 15,459

Bank Group
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Collarteral held as security and of other credit enhancements, and their financial effect

Th group holds collateral and other credit enhancements against certain types of credit exposures. The table below sets 
out the principal types of callateral held against different types of financial assets.

Bank Group

Type of Credit Exposure

Principal Type of 
Collateral Held for 
Secured Lending

Loans and 
Advances

B$’000

Financial 
Effect of 

Collateral 
Held

B$’000

Net 
Exposure 

from 
Loans and 
Advances

B$’000

Loans and 
Advances

B$’000

Loans and 
Advances

B$’000

Net 
Exposure 

from 
Loans and 
Advances

B$’000

2020
Agriculture Mortgage / Cash 7,426 7,426 - 7,426 7,426 -
Constructions and 
Property Financing

Mortgage / Property 472,720 443,057 29,663 472,720 443,057 29,663

Infrastructure Cash / Debenture 5,665 4,156 1,509 5,665 4,156 1,509
Manufacturing Debenture / Cash 79,983 26,797 53,186 79,983 26,797 53,186
Personal and 
Consumption Loans Mortgage / Cash 175,245 21,781 153,464 175,245 21,781 153,464

Services Cash / Debenture 289,809 111,508 178,301 289,809 111,508 178,301
Telecommunication and 
Information  Technology Cash / Debenture 2,444 1,875 569 2,444 1,875 569

Tourism Cash / Property 18,439 12,058 6,381 18,439 12,058 6,381
Traders Cash / Property 145,983 87 543 58,440 145,983 87,543 58,440
Transportation Debenture / Cash 91,904 15,593 76,311 912,732 438,864 473,868

Total 1,289,618 731,794 557,824 2,110,446 1,155,065 955,381
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Cash and cash equivelant

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of B$825,906,000 as at December 31, 2020 (2019: B$1,328,107,000). Most of 
the cash and cash equivalents, except deposits with AMBD, are held with banks and financial institution counterparties 
which are rated at least an investment grade.

Settlement risk

The Group’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the risk 
of loss due to the failure of an entity to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually 
agreed.

For certain types of transactions, the Group mitigates this risk by conducting settlements through a settlement/clearing 
agent to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual settlement obligations.

4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Credit risk (cont’d)

Collateral held as security and of other credit enhancements, and their financial effect (cont’d)

Bank Group

Type of Credit Exposure

Principal Type of 
Collateral Held for 
Secured Lending

Loans and 
Advances

B$’000

Financial 
Effect of 

Collateral 
Held

B$’000

Net 
Exposure 

from 
Loans and 
Advances

B$’000

Loans and 
Advances

B$’000

Loans and 
Advances

B$’000

Net 
Exposure 

from 
Loans and 
Advances

B$’000

2019
Agriculture Mortgage / Cash 3,997 3,997 - 3,997 3,997 -
Constructions and 
Property Financing

Mortgage / Property 464,690 430,758 33,932 464,690 430,758 33,932

Infrastructure Cash 5,186 4,310 876 5,186 4,310 876
Manufacturing Cash / Debenture 49,839 39,840 9,999 49,839 39,840 9,999
Personal and 
Consumption Loans

Mortgage / Cash 206,523 25,839 180,684 206,523 25,839 180,684

Services Cash / Mortgage 176,039 76,363 99,676 176,039 76,363 99,676
Telecommunication and 
Information  Technology

Cash / Property 6,916 2,550 4,366 6,916 2,550 4,366

Tourism Cash / Debenture 20,248 13,199 7,049 20,248 13,199 7,049
Traders Cash / Property 174,794 103,257 71,537 174,794 103,257 71,537
Transportation Cash / Debenture 172,168 74,561 97,607 974,816 481,316 493,500

Total 1,280,400 774,674 505,726 2,083,048 1,181,429 901,619
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial assets.

Management of liquidity risk

The Group’s RMC sets the Group’s strategy for managing liquidity risk and has the responsibility for the oversight of the 
implementation of this policy. The Group has also established an Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”) to manage the 
Bank’s overall balance sheet including monitoring its liquidity position. Treasury manages the Group’s liquidity position 
on a day-to-day basis and reviews daily reports covering the liquidity position of the Group. A summary report, including 
any exceptions and remedial action taken, is submitted regularly to the ALCO.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group’s reputation.

The key elements of the Group’s liquidity strategy are as follows;

•	 Maintaining a diversified funding base consisting of customer deposits (both retail and corporate) and wholesale 
market deposits and maintaining contingency facilities with other banks;

•	 Carrying a portfolio of highly liquid assets, diversified by currency and maturity; and

•	 Monitoring liquidity ratios, maturity mismatches, and behavioural characteristics of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities.

Treasury receives information from other business units and reports from the system regarding the liquidity profile 
of financial assets and liabilities and details of other projected cash flows arising from projected future businesses. 
Treasury maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets, largely made up of short-term liquid investment securities, 
money market placements with banks and other inter-bank facilities, to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained 
within the Group. The liquidity requirements of business units are centrally managed by the Treasury department to cover 
any short-term fluctuations and longer-term funding requirements. Treasury monitors compliance with local regulatory 
limits on a daily basis.

The current market uncertainty as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak has minimal impact on the Group’s liquidity risk, as 
the current operating cash flows is currently assessed as sufficient.

Exposure to liquidity risk

The key measure used by the Group for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of liquid assets to deposits from customers 
and short-term liabilities. For this purpose, liquid assets are considered as including cash and cash equivalents, bank 
placements and debt securities for which there is an active and liquid market.
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

A similar, but not identical, calculation is used to measure the Bank’s compliance with the Assets Management Ratio 
(“AMR”) under the Deposit Protection Order, 2010.

Maturity analysis for financial assets and liabilities

The tables below set out the remaining contractual maturities of the Bank and the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities. 

Bank

Carrying 
Amount
B$’000

Gross 
Nominal 

Inflow/
(outflow)

B$’000

Less than
3 months

B$’000

3-6 
months
B$’000

6-12 
months
B$’000

1-3 years
B$’000

3-5 years
B$’000

Over 5 
years

B$’000

2020
Non-Derivative Assets
Cash 41,238 41,238 41,238 - - - - -
Due from Banks / AMBD 1,304,374 1,308,074 950,751 104,568 159,047 93,708 - -
Government Sukuk 79,844 79,900 46,820 13,080 20,00 - - -
Investment Securities 577,423 593,515 361,184 79,452 21,157 31,270 94,350 6,102
Loans and Advances 1,215,968 1,371,385 185,655 98,749 104,522 486,006 193,852 302,601
Other On Balance
Sheet Assets 7,791 7,791 - - 7,386 405 - -
Other Off Balance 
Sheet Assets 85,697 85,697 50,941 22,211 10,341 2,204 - -

Total 3,312,335 3,487,600 1,636,589 318,060 322,453 613,593 288,202 308,703

Non-Derivative Liabilities
Deposits 2,757,000 2,762,992 889,419 443,866 604,969 824,738 - -
Borrowings 26,521 26,521 26,521 - - - - -
Lease Liabilities 2,445 2,445 284 287 553 1,099 222 -
Group Balances Payable 2,191 2,191 2,191 - - - - -
Other On Balance  
Sheet Liabilities 64,942 64,942 6,201 53 - 58,688 - -

Other Off Balance 
Sheet Liabilities 85,697 85,697 50,941 22,211 10,341 2,204 - -

Undrawn Credit Lines 856,729 856,729 - - 856,729 - - -

Total 3,795,525 3,801,517 975,557 466,417 1,472,592 886,729 222 -

Net cash Inflow/(Outflow) (483,190) (313,917) 661,032 (148,357) (1,150,139) (273,136) 287,980 308,703

Derivative Financial Instruments
- Inflow - 41,820) 23,660 16,768 1,392 - - -
- Outflow - (41,406) (23,364) (16,660) (1,382) - - -

Total - 414 296 108 10 - - -
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Group

Carrying 
Amount
B$’000

Gross 
Nominal 

Inflow/
(outflow)

B$’000

Less than
3 months

B$’000

3-6 
months
B$’000

6-12 
months
B$’000

1-3 years
B$’000

3-5 years
B$’000

Over 5 
years

B$’000

2020
Non-Derivative Assets
Cash 43,505 43,505 43,505 - - - - -
Due from Banks / AMBD 1,375,347 1,379,047 1,021,724 104,568 159,047 93,708 - -
Government Sukuk 79,844 79,900 46,820 13,080 20,000 - - -
Investment Securities 577,423 593,515 361,184 79,452 21,157 31,271 94,350 6,102
Loans and Advances 2,017,487 2,328,939 247,929 159,155 219,253 881,406 441,463 379,733
Other On Balance
Sheet Assets 37,889 37,889 30,098 - 7,386 405 - -
Other Off Balance 
Sheet Assets 85,697 85,697 50,941 22,211 10,341 2,204 - -

Total 4,217,192 4,548,492 1,802,201 378,466 437,184 1,008,993 535,813 385,835

Non-Derivative Liabilities
Deposits 3,488,602 3,551,594 926,659 496,916 766,171 1,361,848 - -
Borrowings 26,521 26,521 26,521 - - - - -
Lease Liabilities 4,015 4,015 412 417 817 2,133 236 -
Other On Balance  
Sheet Liabilities 73,014 73,014 14,274 53 - 58,687 - -
Other Off Balance 
Sheet Liabilities 85,697 85,697 50,941 22,211 10,341 2,204 - -
Undrawn Credit Lines 856,729 856,729 - - 856,729 - - -

Total 4,534,578 4,597,570 1,018,807 519,597 1,634,058 1,424,872 236 -

Net cash Inflow/(Outflow) (317,386) (49,078) 783,394 (141,131) (1,196,874) (415,879) 535,577 385,835

Derivative Financial Instruments
- Inflow - 41,820) 23,660 16,768 1,392 - - -
- Outflow - (41,406) (23,364) (16,660) (1,382) - - -

Total - 414 296 108 10 - - -
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Bank

Carrying 
Amount
B$’000

Gross 
Nominal 

Inflow/
(outflow)

B$’000

Less than
3 months

B$’000

3-6 
months
B$’000

6-12 
months
B$’000

1-3 years
B$’000

3-5 years
B$’000

Over 5 
years

B$’000

2019
Non-Derivative Assets
Cash 38,875 38,875 38,875 - - - - -
Due from Banks / AMBD 1,640,406 1,648,440 1,423,190 43,224 83,931 73,918 24,177 -
Government Sukuk 75,553 76,010 38,900 7,110 30,000 - - -
Investment Securities 80,061 92,218 675 10,968 1,004 36,830 42,436 305
Loans and Advances 1,193,611 1,384,652 168,040 104,196 99,830 480,182 225,932 306,472
Group Balaces Receivable 341 341 341 - - - - -
Other On Balance
Sheet Assets 6,984 6,984 73 - 6,537 374 - -
Other Off Balance 
Sheet Assets 89,138 89,138 89,138 - - - - -

Total 3,124,969 3,336,658 1,759,232 165,498 221,302 591,304 292,545 306,777

Non-Derivative Liabilities
Deposits 2,627,333 2,636,572 960,936 391,524 523,180 737,798 23,134 -
Lease Liabilities 3,139 3,139 249 253 515 1,638 419 65
Other On Balance  
Sheet Liabilities 63,400 63,400 626 - - 54,329 - 8,395

Other Off Balance 
Sheet Liabilities 89,138 89,138 89,138 - - - - -

Undrawn Credit Lines 704,904 704,904 704,904 - - - - -

Total 3,487,914 3,497,153 1,755,903 391,777 523,695 793,7 23,553 8,460

Net cash Inflow/(Outflow) (362,945) (160,495) 3,329 (226,279) (302,393) (202,461) 268,992 298,317

Derivative Financial Instruments
- Inflow - 29,696 5,182 23,351 1,163 - - -
- Outflow - (29,089) (5,062) (22,869) (1,158) - - -

Total - 607 120 482 5 - - -
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

Group

Carrying 
Amount
B$’000

Gross 
Nominal 

Inflow/
(outflow)

B$’000

Less than
3 months

B$’000

3-6 
months
B$’000

6-12 
months
B$’000

1-3 years
B$’000

3-5 years
B$’000

Over 5 
years

B$’000

2019
Non-Derivative Assets
Cash 42,301 42,301 42,301 - - - - -
Due from Banks / AMBD 1,696,692 1,704,727 1,479,476 43,224 83,932 73,918 24,177 -
Government Sukuk 75,553 76,010 38,900 7,110 30,000 - - -
Investment Securities 80,061 92,218 675 10,968 1,004 36,830 42,436 305
Loans and Advances as restated 1,979,137 2,365,963 233,808 168,123 220,860 887,975 473,997 381,200
Other On Balance
Sheet Assets 35,163 35,163 28,253 - 6,537 373 - -
Other Off Balance 
Sheet Assets 89,138 89,138 89,138 - - - - -

Total 3,998,045 4,405,520 1,912,551 229,425 342,333 999,096 540,610 381,505

Non-Derivative Liabilities
Deposits 3,324,887 3,411,452 1,069,060 427,015 700,680 1,191,563 23,134 -
Lease Liabilities 5,089 5,089 365 370 754 2,650 885 65
Other On Balance  
Sheet Liabilities 73,386 73,386 10,663 - - 54,329 - 8,394

Other Off Balance 
Sheet Liabilities 89,138 89,138 89,138 - - - - -

Undrawn Credit Lines 704,904 704,904 704,904 - - - - -

Total 4,197,404 4,283,969 1,874,130 427,385 701,434 1,248,542 24,019 8,459

Net cash Inflow/(Outflow) (199,359) 121,551 38,421 (197,960) (359,101) (249,446) (516,591) 373,046

Derivative Financial Instruments
- Inflow - 29,696 5,182 23,351 1,163 - - -
- Outflow - (29,089) (5,062) (22,869) (1,158) - - -

Total - 607 120 482 5 - - -
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Liquidity risk (cont’d)

The above tables show the undiscounted cash flows on the Bank’s and the Group’s non-derivative financial assets and 
liabilities, including issued financial guarantee contracts, and unrecognised loan commitments on the basis of their 
earliest possible contractual maturity. For issued financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee 
is allocated to the earliest period in which the guarantee could be called.

The gross nominal inflows / (outflows) disclosed in the previous table represent the contractual undiscounted cash flows 
relating to derivative financial liabilities and assets held for risk management purposes. The disclosure shows a net 
amount for derivatives that are net settled, but a gross inflow and outflow amount for derivatives that have simultaneous 
gross settlement (e.g. forward exchange contracts).

As part of the management of its liquidity risk arising from financial liabilities, the Group holds liquid assets comprising 
cash and cash equivalents, and debt securities for which there is an active and liquid market so that they can be 
readily sold to meet liquidity requirements. In addition, the Group maintains agreed lines of credit with banks and holds 
unencumbered assets eligible for use as collateral.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk which will affect the value of the Group’s holding of financial instruments due to changes in 
market prices, such as interest rates, equity prices and foreign exchange rates. The objective of the Group’s market 
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters in order to ensure the 
Group’s solvency while optimising the return on risk.

Management of market risk

Overall authority for market risk is vested in the EXCO. The EXCO may set up limits for each type of risk in aggregate and 
for portfolios while management is responsible for the day-to-day review of their implementation.

The EXCO has appointed the ALCO to monitor and control market risk exposures.

Exposure to interest rate risk

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed to is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash 
flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed 
principally through monitoring interest rate gaps by the management and it is assisted by the Treasury Department in 
its day-to-day monitoring activities. A summary of the Group’s interest rate bearing assets and liabilities position on the 
non-trading positions based on earlier of repricing or maturity dates is as follows:
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Interest Bearing

Bank

Carrying 
Amount
B$’000

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing 
B$’000

Less than
3 months

B$’000

3-6 
months
B$’000

6-12 
months
B$’000

1-3
years

B$’000

3-5
years

B$’000

Over 5 
years

B$’000

2020
Financial Assets
Cash 41,238 41,238 - - - - - -
Due from Banks / AMBD 1,304,374 189,021 859,893 86,293 125,095 44,072 - -
Derivative Assets 477 477 - - - - - -
Government Sukuk 79,844 - 46,802 13,065 19,977 - - -
Investment Securities 577,423 - 359,832 78,583 20,000 20,215 93,498 5,295
Loans and Advances 1,215,968 - 166,357 80,685 77,948 456,667 162,943 271,368
Other Assets 7,791 7,791 - - - - - -

Total 3,227,115 238,527 1,432,884 258,626 243,020 520,954 256,441 276,663

Financial Liabilities
Deposits 2,757,000 960,421 657,868 361,413 360,406 416,892 - -
Derivative Liabilities 76 76 - - - - - -
Borrowings 26,521 - 26,521 - - - - -
Lease Liabilities 2,445 - 284 287 553 1,099 222 -
Group Balances Payable 2,191 2,191 - - - - - -
Other Liabilities 64,942 64,942 - - - - - -

Total 2,853,175 1,027,630 684,673 361,700 360,959 417,991 222 -

2019
Financial Assets
Cash 38,875 38,875 - - - - - -
Due from Banks / AMBD 1,640,406 201,748 1,219,766 42,945 82,726 71,107 22,114 -
Derivative Assets 596 596 - - - - - -
Government Sukuk 75,553 - 38,814 7,058 29,681 - - -
Investment Securities 80,061 - - 10,375 - 34,489 34,892 305
Loans and Advances 1,193,611 - 151,560 91,524 79,697 420,274 189,265 261,291
Group Balances Receivable 341 341 - - - - - -
Other Assets 6,984 6,984 - - - - - -

Total 3,036,427 248,544 1,410,140 151,902 192,104 525,870 246,271 261,596

Financial Liabilities
Deposits 2,627,333 810,316 769,792 321,444 314,022 390,098 21,661 -
Derivative Liabilities 36 36 - - - - - -
Lease Liabilities 3,139 - 249 253 515 1,638 419 65
Other Liabilities 63,400 63,400 - - - - - -

Total 2,693,908 873,752 770,041 321,697 314,537 391,736 22,080 65

4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Market risk (cont’d)
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Market risk (cont’d)

Interest Bearing

Bank

Carrying 
Amount
B$’000

Non-
interest 
bearing
B$’000

Less than
3 months

B$’000

3-6 
months
B$’000

6-12 
months
B$’000

1-3 
years

B$’000

3-5 
years

B$’000

Over 5 
years

B$’000

2020
Financial Assets
Cash 43,505 43,505 - - - - - -
Due from Banks / AMBD 1,375,347 259,994 859,893 86,293 125,095 44,072 - -
Derivative Assets 477 477 - - - - - -
Government Sukuk 79,844 - 46,802 13,065 19,977 - - -
Investment Securities 577,423 - 359,832 78,583 20,000 20,215 93,498 5,295
Loans and Advances 2,017,487 - 222,502 117,906 180,912 793,058 365,768 337,341
Other Assets 37,889 37,889 - - - - - -

Total 4,131,972 341,865 1,489,029 295,847 345,984 857,345 459,266 342,636

Financial Liabilities
Deposits 3,488,602 918,034 685,918 413,775 520,771 950,104 - -
Derivative Liabilities 76 76 - - - -
Borrowings 26,521 - 26,521 - - - - -
Lease Liabilities 4,015 412 417 817 2,133 236
Other Liabilities 73,014 73,014 - - - - - -

Total 3,592,228 991,124 712,851 414,192 521,588 952,237 236 -

2019
Financial Assets
Cash 42,301 42,301 - - - - - -
Due from Banks / AMBD 1,696,692 258,033 1,219,766 42,945 82,726 71,106 22,116 -
Derivative Assets 596 596 - - - - -
Government Sukuk 75,553 - 38,814 7,058 29,681 - - -
Investment Securities 80,061 - 10,375 34,489 34,892 305
Loans and Advances, 

as restated
1,979,137 - 201,096 140,003 183,848 750,658 381,067 322,465

Other Assets 35,163 35,163 - - - - - -

Total 3,909,503 336,093 1,459,676 200,381 296,255 856,253 438,075 322,770

Financial Liabilities
Deposits 3,324,887 744,232 842,533 360,080 481,134 875,247 21,661 -
Derivative Liabilities 36 36 - - - - -
Lease Liabilities 5,089 - 365 370 754 2,650 885 65
Other Liabilities 73,386 73,386 - - - - - -

Total 3,403,398 817,654 842,898 360,450 481,888 877,897 22,546 65
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Market risk (cont’d)

The management of interest rate risk is supplemented by monitoring the sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities to various interest rate scenarios. Scenarios that are considered on a monthly basis include a 10-basis point 
(“bp”) parallel fall or rise in all yield curves.

Interest rate movements affect reported retained earnings due to increases or decreases in net interest income and the 
fair value changes reported in profit or loss.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Bank’s and the 
Group’s projected net interest income for the financial year ended December 31, 2020 would increase/(decrease) by:
	

Overall non-trading interest rate risk positions are managed by the Treasury and Finance Department which uses 
investment securities, advances to banks, deposits from banks and derivative instruments to manage the overall position 
arising from the Group’s activities.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk to earnings and value of financial instruments caused by fluctuations in foreign exchange 
rates.

Currency risks primarily arise for the fluctuation in the exchange rates on the open position of the Bank for all currencies 
other than its functional currency. The main dealing currencies of the Group are BND against major currencies, including 
USD, GBP, AUD and SGD. The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk for SGD due to the Currency Interchangeability 
Agreement between Singapore and Brunei Darussalam which interchanges the two currencies at par. The Group has 
limited foreign exchange transactions and does not hold speculative trading positions. The Group manages the foreign 
exchange risk by monitoring the exposure against limits set by the ALCO.

Bank Group

+0.10%
B$’000

-0.10%
B$’000

+0.10%
B$’000

-0.10%
B$’000

As at December 31, 2020 223 (223) (668) 668

As at December 31, 2019 301 (301) (514) 514
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Market risk (cont’d)

Bank and Group
USD

B$’000
GBP

B$’000
  AUD

B$’000
Others
B$’000

2020

Financial Assets

Cash 12,816 1,609 4,518 17,457

Due from Banks / AMBD - 16,093 23,659 8,848

Derivative Assets 473 - - 4

Investment Securities 299 - 9,974 -

Loans and Advances 181,073 - - -

Total 194,661 17,702 38,151 26,309

Financial Liabilities

Deposits 135,667 17,399 38,048 18,362

Derivative Liabilities - - 1 74

Borrowings 26,521 - - 1

Others 1,407 - (3) (13)

Total 163,595 17,399 38,046 18,423

Off Balance Sheet Deriative Financial Intsruments (34,325) - (97) (6,985)

2019

Financial Assets

Cash 588 270 202 1,496

Due from Banks / AMBD 24,493 16,058 50,941 27,496

Derivative Assets 327 - - 256

Investment Securities 305 - - -

Loans and Advances 119,563 - - (154)

Other Assets 327 - - 270

Total 145,603 16,328 51,143 29,364

Financial Liabilities

Deposits 129,764 16,231 51,194 20,011

Derivative Liabilities - 3 2 18

Others 1,454 3 (1) 22

Total 131,218 16,237 51,195 20,051

Off Balance Sheet Deriative Financial Intsruments (18,949) 762 (112) (9,667)
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4.4	 Financial risk management objectives (cont’d)

Market risk (cont’d)

The estimated impact on the Bank’s and the Group’s profit or loss for a 10% change in the foreign exchange rates (USD, 
GBP, AUD and others) against BND is shown below:

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk to achieving the Group’s strategic objectives as a result of inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people and systems, or from external events. Operational risk is inherent to every aspect of our business. The 
Group’s objective is to manage its operational risk at appropriate levels, considering the markets we operate in, capital 
and liquidity adequacy, as well as economic conditions and the regulatory environment.

The Board is ultimately responsible for all aspects of operational risk management. The Board delegates these 
responsibilities to the RMC to oversee the management of operational risk.

The Group’s operational risk management framework sets out to identify, assess, control, mitigate, report and monitor 
operational risk.

Senior management is overall responsible for implementing the operational risk management framework, its associated 
policies and procedures, to anticipate and mitigate operational risk for the Group.

The Three Lines of Defence approach is applied to operational risk management.

The first line of defence – business line management including support functions - is directly responsible for identifying 
and managing day-to-day operational risk. The second line of defence is provided by the Group Risk Department where 
it coordinates, facilitates and oversees the effectiveness and integrity of the Group’s operational risk management 
framework. The third line of defence involves the Internal Audit function to provide independent assurance to the 
Board and senior management on the effectiveness and quality of governance, risk management and internal control 
processes.

The Group employs the Basic Indicator Approach to compute operational risk capital.

Bank and Group

USD
+/-0.10%

B$’000

GBP
+/-0.10%

B$’000

AUD
+/-0.10%

B$’000

Others
+/-0.10%

B$’000

As at December 31, 2020 (326) 30 1 90

As at December 31, 2019 (489) 86 (16) (59)
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Bank and Group
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000

Level of the 
fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation 
Techniques

& key input(s)

Assets
Investment Securities:
•	 Index Linked Notes - 10,375 2 Reuters Quote

•	 Structured Deposits 54,340 4,042 2 Reuters Quote

•	 Corporate Bonds - 3 2 Quoted Prices

•	 Equity 300 305 3 Net Asset Value

Derivative Assets 477 596 2 Reuters Quote

Total 55,117 15,321

Liabilities
Deposits from Customers - Structured 

Deposits
4,142 14,540 2 Reuters Quote or

Ajusted Quoted Prices

Derivative liabilities 76 36 2 Reuters Quote

Total 4,218 14,576

4.5	 Fair value measurements

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets and financial 
liabilities.

Fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities 
are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at
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4.5	 Fair value measurements (cont’d)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

The following table shows a reconciliation from the beginning balances to the ending balances for the fair value 
measurements in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value on the statements of financial position

Fair value of financial instruments

Where possible, fair values have been estimated using market prices for financial instruments. Where market prices are 
not available, fair values have been estimated using quoted prices for financial instruments with similar characteristics, 
or otherwise using a suitable valuation technique where practicable to do so. The fair value information presented 
represents the Group’s best estimate of those values and may be subject to certain assumptions and limitations.

Methodologies

The methodologies and assumptions used in estimating fair values depend on the terms and risk characteristics of the 
various instruments and include the following:

Financial instruments for which carrying value approximates fair value

These include cash and balances with AMBD, deposits from customers, deposits from banks and other financial 
institutions, loans and advances and intercompany balances which reprice generally within six months of the reporting 
date, and accrued interest receivable and payable. The carrying value of these financial instruments is an approximation 
of the fair value because they are either short-term in nature, reprice frequently or are receivable or payable on demand 
and do not have significant credit risk.

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Investment Securities

Opening balance as at January 1 305 308

Totall Gains or Losses included in Statements of Profit or Loss for the year:

Revaluation during the year (5) (3)

As at December 31 300 305

Bank and Group
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4.5	 Fair value measurements (cont’d)

Loans and Advances

For loans and advances which mature or reprice after six months, the fair value is principally estimated by discounting 
anticipated cash flows (including interest at contractual rates). Performing loans are grouped, to the extent possible, into 
homogenous pools segregated by maturity and the coupon rates of the loans within each pool. In general, cash flows 
are discounted using current market rates for instruments with similar maturity, repricing and credit risk characteristics.

For non-performing uncollateralised loans and advances, an estimate is made of the time period to realise these cash 
flows and the fair value is estimated by discounting these cash flows at the market rate. For non-performing loans and 
advances where collateral exists, the fair value is the lesser of the carrying value of the loans and advances, net of 
specific allowances, or the fair value of the collateral, discounted as appropriate.

Deposits by customers

Deposits by customers which mature or reprice after six months from the reporting date are grouped by residual maturity. 
The fair value is calculated using discounted cash flow models, based on the deposit type and its related maturity, 
applying either market rates, where applicable or current rates offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities.

Derivative financial instruments

The fair values of derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts are based on quoted market 
prices at the end of the reporting period.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Carrying 
amount
B$’000

Fair value
B$’000

Carrying 
amount
B$’000

Fair value
B$’000

Financial Assets

Investments at amortised cost

•	 Governement Sukuk 79,844 79,844 75,553 75,553

•	 Investment Securities 522,783 526,397 65,336 65,765

Total 602,627 606,241 140,889 141,318

4.5	 Fair value measurements (cont’d)

Summary

Except as detailed in the following table, management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
financial liabilities recorded at mortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their respective fair 
values. Accordingly, the Group has not disclosed the fair value and their levels in the fair value hierarchy for financial 
assets and liabilities carried at mortised cost.

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included in the Level 2 and Level 3 categories above have 
been determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with 
the most significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

2019
Financial Assets

Investments at amortised cost

•	 Governement Sukuk - 75,553 - 75,553

•	 Investment Securities 65,765 - - 65,765

Total 65,765 75,553 - 141,318

2020

Bank and Group

2019

Level 1
B$’000

Level 2
B$’000

Level 3
B$’000

Total
B$’000

2020
Financial Assets

Investments at amortised cost

•	 Governement Sukuk - 79,844 - 79,844

•	 Investment Securities 526,397 - - 526,397

Total 526,397 79,844 - 606,241

Fair value hierarchy
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5. Net interest income 

Total interest income and expense calculated using the effective interest method are reported above. The effective 
interest relating to financial assets or liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss for the Bank’s and the Group’s 
included above is an interest income of B$137,802 (2019: B$439,232) and an interest expense of B$58,850 (2019: B$241,604) 
respectively.

6. Other operating income 

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Dividend income from a subsidiary 20,869 23,128 - -

Fees, charges and others 16,874 16,493 20,696 18,586

Realised and Unrealised gains from Foreign Exchange
  Transactions 7,944 8,460 7,944 8,460

Management fee from a subsidiary 1,800 1,800 - -

Gains on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 130 47 156 47

Total 47,617 49,928 28,796 27,093

Bank

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Interest Income

Loans and Advances 65,169 72,456 120,300 127,498

Placements with Other Banks 11,903 26,679 11,903 26,679

Investment Securities 2,399 1,399 2,399 1,399

Others 1,496 2,582 1,496 2,582

Government Sukuk 715 938 715 938

Total Interest Income 81,682 104,054 136,813 159,096

Interest Expense
Deposits and Borrowings 12,261 19,389 15,184 21,702

Net Interest Income 69,421 84,665 121,629 137,394

Bank Group

Group
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7. Net income/(loss) from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or Loss

8. Personnel expenses

9. Other overhead expenses 

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Promotion

Advertisement and Publicity 1,940 2,254 2,574 2,582

Operational

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment 5,885 4,888 6,190 5,198

Repair and Maintenance 3,175 4,466 4,268 5,193

Depreciation of Right-of-use Assets 1,018 1,036 1,528 1,533

Expenses relating to Short-Term Leases 571 701 695 733

Expenses relating to Leases of Low Value Assets 274 274 274 398

Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities 145 195 241 313

Hire of Equipment - 2 2 3

General Expenses

Others 14,921 20,909 21,996 27,856

Professional Fees 2,473 1,198 4,493 3,074

Auditors’ Fees 208 55 258 108

Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 56 1 56 1

Dealer’s Commission and Incentives - - 9,489 9,586

Total 30,666 35,979 52,064 56,578

Bank Group

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Salaries and Wages 20,609 19,341 24,795 23,650
Allowances and Bonuses 6,619 6,139 7,864 7,296
Directors’ fees 3,448 3,237 3,646 3,395
Others 3,005 3,585 3,615 4,074

Total 33,681 32,302 39,920 38,415

Bank Group

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Investment Securities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss:

- Investment Securities 301 (255)

Deposits at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss:

- Deposits (48) (73)

Total 253 (328)

Bank and Group
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10. Income tax expense 

11. Cash and short term funds   

12. Balances with AMBD   

This is maintained as required by the provisions of Section 45 of the Brunei Darussalam Banking Order, 2006 and a 
directive issued by AMBD in accordance with Section 25(2) of the Finance Companies Act, Cap. 89. This is not available 
for use in the Bank’s and its subsidiaries’ day to day operations. At present, the minimum cash reserve requirement is 6% 
(2019: 6%) of the total average deposit liabilities and is maintained under the RTGS account with AMBD.

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Recognised in the Statements of Profit or Loss

Current Tax Expense

Current year 5,588 7,860 10,708 13,144

Deferred Tax Expense

Origination & reversal of temporary differences - (1,000) - (1,000)

Total Income Tax Expense 5,588 6,860 10,708 12,144

Movement in Provision for Taxation

Opening balance as at January 1 16,449 18,021 40,085 39,880

Current year provision 5,588 7,860 10,708 13,144

Income tax paid (6,453) (9,432) (11,572) (12,939)

Closing balance as at December 31 15,584 16,449 39,221 40,085

Reconciliation of Effective Tax Rate at 18.50%
Profit before income tax 62,432 63,092 69,576 68,670

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate 11,550 11,672 12,872 12,704

Tax effect of non-taxable revenue and others (5,962) (3,812) (2,164) 440

Total 5,588 7,860 10,708 13,144

Bank Group

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Placements with remaining maturity not exceeding one year 1,000,698 1,316,461 1,000,698 1,316,461

Balances with Banks and Other Financial Institutions 189,021 201,747 197,742 204,953

Money at call and short notice and Interbank 114,655 122,198 114,655 122,198

Cash in hand 41,238 38,875 43,505 42,301

Total 1,345,612 1,679,281 1,356,600 1,685,913

Bank Group
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13. Derivative financial instruments

14. Government Sukuk 

15. Investment Securities   

National
B$’000

Assets
B$’000

Liabilities
B$’000

2020
Foreign Exchange Contract 41,820 477 76

2019

Foreign Exchange Contract 29,696 596 36

Bank and Group

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Governement Sukuk measured at amortised cost 79,844 75,553

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Investment Securities measured at mortised cost 522,783 65,336

Investment Securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL 54,640 14,725

Total 577,423 80,061

Bank and Group

Bank and Group
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16. Loans and advances  

17. Group balances receivable / payable

On April 1, 2020, the Bank and the Group offered principal payment holidays to its affected customers in eligible business 
sectors outlined in the AMBD Notice no: BU/N-1/2020/65 and BU/N-1/2020/67 Temporary Regulatory Measures, but 
only certain customers have taken up the extension of which amounted to a carrying amount of B$29,174,000 and 
B$33,489,000 at year-end, respectively. The Bank and the Group considers all of them to be classified as Stage 1 (i.e. 
a loss allowance measured at equal to 12-month ECL), except for loans and advances amounting to B$4,262,000 and 
B$4,807,000, respectively, which have been classified as Stage 2 and for which loss allowance is measured at equal to 
lifetime ECL. The Bank continues to monitor the loans and advances closely to determine if they are credit impaired.

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

By Type:

Term Loans

•	 Other Term Loans 786,515 746,257 786,515 746,257

•	 Property Loans 291,131 298,432 291,131 298,432

•	 Hire Purchase Receivables - - 820,828 802,647

Cash line / Overdrafts 153,267 160,944 153,267 160,944

Credit / Charge cards 35,864 42,199 35,864 42,200

Revolving credit 18,294 13,602 18,294 13,602

Staff Loans 3,728 4,695 3,728 4,695

Others 819 819 819 819

Syndicated Loan - 13,452 - 13,452

Gross Loans and Advances 1,289,618 1,280,400 2,110,446 2,083,048
Less: Loss allowances (73,650) (86,789) (92,959) (103,911)

Net Loans and Advances 1,215,968 1,193,611 2,017,487 1,979,137

Bank Group

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Due to Subsidaries 2,191 - - -

Due from Subsidaries - 341 - -

Bank Group
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18. Investment in subsidiaries

19. Other assets

20. Right-of-use assets

The Bank and the Group lease a number of branch and office premises. The leases typically run for a period of 1 to 10 
years, and with an option to renew the lease after that date.

Name of Company Principal Activity
Country of 

Incorporation
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
  2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000

Baiduri Finance 
Berhad Finance Company Brunei Darussalam 45,249 45,249 100% 100%

Baiduri Capital
Sdn Bhd

Sharebrokers & 
Dealers in Securities & 

Investments of all kinds
Brunei Darussalam 2,700 2,700 99.99% 99.99%

Total 47,949 47,949

Cost %Holding

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Sundry Debtors and Others 7,472 6,584 8,158 6,744
Prepayments and Consumables 1,584 1,724 1,648 1,801
Accounts Receivables 319 400 467 548
Dealer’s Commission and Incentives - - 29,264 27,872

Total 9,375 8,708 39,537 36,965

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Cost
As at beginning of the year 4,095 4,095 6,493 6,493
Additions 285 - 390 -

As at end of year 4,380 4,095 6,883 6,493

Accumulated Depreciation
As at beginning of the year 1,036 - 1,533 -
Depreciation for the year 1,018 1,036 1,528 1,533

As at end of the year 2,054 1,036 3,061 1,533

Carrying Amounts
As at December 31, 2020 2,326 - 3,822 -
As at December 31, 2019 - 3,059 - 4,960

Bank

Bank

Group

Group
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Included in the Leasehold Land and Buildings is a building on a 99 years leasehold land.

21. Property, plant and equipment

Bank

Freehold
Land and 
Buildings

B$’000

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings

B$’000

Leasehold 
Improvements

B$’000
Computers

BS’000

Equipment 
/ Furniture 

B$’000

Motor 
Vehicles

B$’000

Total
2020

B$’000

Total
2019

B$’000

Cost

As at beginning of the year 4,963 33,013 4,321 19,657 1,412 491 63,857 49,632

Additions - 7,066 374 4,090 2,454 669 14,653 20,346

Disposals (1,261) - (1,617) (2,431) (331) (258) (5,898) (6,121)

As at end of year 3,702 40,079 3,078 21,316 3,535 902 72,612 63,857

Accumulated Depreciation
As at beginning of the year 621 2,174 2,735 6,798 596 333 13,257 14,498

Depreciation for the year 81 767 627 3,848 430 132 5,885 4,888

Disposals (155) - (1,617) (2,427) (317) (212) (4,728) (6,129)

As at end of the year 547 2,941 1,745 8,219 709 253 14,414 13,257

Carrying Amounts
As at December 31, 2020 3,155 37,138 1,333 13,097 2,826 649 58,198 -

As at December 31, 2019 4,342 30,839 1,586 12,859 816 158 - 50,600

Group

Freehold
Land and 
Buildings

B$’000

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings

B$’000

Leasehold 
Improvements

B$’000
Computers

BS’000

Equipment 
/ Furniture 

B$’000

Motor 
Vehicles

B$’000

Total
2020

B$’000

Total
2019

B$’000

Cost

As at beginning of the year 4,963 33,013 5,346 21,253 2,118 589 67,282 52,416

Additions - 7,066 416 4,612 2,468 745 15,307 20,987

Disposals (1,261) - (2,466) (3,256) (916) (318) (8,217) (6,121)

As at end of year 3,702 40,079 3,296 22,609 3,670 1,016 74,372 67,282

Accumulated Depreciation
As at beginning of the year 620 2,174 3,651 7,706 1,224 410 15,785 16,716

Depreciation for the year 81 767 686 4,039 462 155 6,190 5,198

Disposals (155) - (2,466) (3,253) (901) (268) (7,043) (6,129)

As at end of the year 546 2,941 1,871 8,492 785 297 14,932 15,785

Carrying Amounts
As at December 31, 2020 3,156 37,138 1,425 14,117 2,885 719 59,440 -

As at December 31, 2019 4,343 30,839 1,695 13,547 894 179 - 51,497

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Amounts due for settlement within 12 months 1,124 1,017 1,646 1,489
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months 1,321 2,122 2,369 3,600

Total 2,445 3,139 4,015 5,089

Maturity Analysis:
Not later than 1 year 1,124 1,017 1,646 1,489
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,321 2,057 2,369 3,535
Later than 5 years - 65 - 65

Total 2,445 3,139 4,015 5,089

22. Deposits from customers

23. Deposits from banks and other financial institutions

24. Borrowings

25. Lease liabilities

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

By type of Deposit
Demand Deposits 897,659 737,324 905,978 740,341
Fixed Deposits 828,991 1,105,379 915,864 1,183,353
Savings Deposits 692,354 572,826 1,654,704 1,397,303

Total 2,419,004 2,415,529 3,476,546 3,320,997

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Licensed Finance Companies in Brunei Darussalam 325,940 207,914 - -
Banks and Financial Institutions Abroad 11,870 3,410 11,870 3,410
Licensed Conventional Bank in Brunei Darussalam 186 480 186 480

Total 337,996 211,804 12,056 3,890

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

By Product
Call money Borrowing 26,521 -

By Maturity
Due within One year 26,521 -

Bank

Bank

Bank

Group

Group

Group

Bank and Group
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26. Other liabilities

27. Deferred taxation

Deferred tax liabilities comprise the estimated expense at current income tax rates on the following items:

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Accrued Expenditure and provisions 29,150 29,495 29,935 30,047
Others 25,990 24,046 28,088 26,048
Provision for Bonuses and End of Service Benefits 16,304 13,880 18,566 16,022
Other Payables 2,810 4,374 7,998 11,806

Total 74,254 71,795 84,587 83,923

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Balances as at January 1 7,446 8,446 7,493 8,493
Reversal of temporary differences - (1,000) - (1,000)

Balance as at December 31 7,446 7,446 7,493 7493

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Others 6,800 9,206 6,872 9,278
Property, Plant and Equipment 2,690 2,507 2,830 2,647
Loss allowances on Loans and Advances (2,044) (4,267) (2,209) (4,432)

Balance as at December 31 7,446 7,446 7,493 7,493

Bank

Bank

Bank

Group

Group

Group
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28. Share capital

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time. At any General Meeting, 
every member present in person, shall have on a show of hands have one vote. All ordinary shares rank equally with 
regard to the Bank’s and the Group’s residual assets.

29. Statutory reserves

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Authorised
200,000,000 Ordinary shares of B$1 each 200,000 200,000

Issued and Paid Up
180,000,000 Ordinary shares of B$1 each 180,000 180,000

Bank and Group

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Balances as at January 1 129,811 145,753 166,051 178,486
Add: Transfer during the year 14,211 14,058 17,588 17,565
Less: Transfer to increase Share Capital - (30,000) - (30,000)

Balances as at December 31 144,022 129,811 183,639 166,051

Bank Group
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30. Other reserves

*The Prudential Reserve for Credit Losses is a non-distributable reserve account that is used to reflect an amount equal 
to the outstanding accrued interest/profit income on non-performing financial assets via a transfer from retained 
earnings as mandated by AMBD Notice no: BU/N-7/2018/57 Prudential Treatment of Problem assets and accounting for 
Expected Credit Losses.

31. Contingency and commitments

In the normal course of business, the Bank and the Group make various commitments and incurs certain contingent 
liabilities with legal recourse to its customers. No material losses are anticipated as a result of these transactions.

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Contingencies
Guarantees, Bonds 134,697 132,769
Forward purchase 41,405 29,696
Letters of Credit 41,296 55,302
Acceptances 2,996 4,140
Shipping Guarantees 1,205 487

Sub-Total 221,599 222,394

Commitments
Undrawn Credit Lines 856,729 704,904

Total Contingencies and Commitments 1,078,328 927,298

Bank and Group

Note
2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000
  2020

B$’000
2019

B$’000

Restated
Retained Earnings
Balances as at January 1, as previously stated 98,596 73,422 164,198 142,237
Prior year adjustment 34 - - (9,154) (9,154)

Balances as at January 1, as restated 98,596 73,422 155,044 133,083
Profit for the financial year 56,844 56,232 58,868 56,526
Less: Transfer during the year
•	 Statutory Reserve
•	 Prudential Reserve for Credit Losses

(14,211)
(1,490)

(14,058)
(23,410)

(17 588)
(1,186)

(17,565)
(23,190)

Prudential Reserve for Credit Losses * 1,490 23,410 1,186 23,190
Dividend paid (18,750) (17,000) (18,750) (17,000)

Balances as at December 31 122,479 98,596 177,574 155,044

General Reserve
Opening and closing balance 5,154 5,154 5,154 5,154

Total Other Reserves 127,633 103,750 182,728 160,198

Bank Group
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32. Cash and cash equivalents

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Bank and the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future 
cash flows will be, classified in the Bank and the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from 
financing activities.

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Balances and placements with banks and other
   financial institutions with contractual maturity of
   less than 3 months

1,048,913 1,421,513 782,401 1,285,806

Cash in hand 41,238 38,875 43,505 42,301

Total 1,090,151 1,460,388 825,906 1,328,107

Bank Group

Lease 
liabilities

B$’000

Borrowings
B$’000

  Lease 
liabilities

B$’000

Borrowings
B$’000

As at January 1, 2019 4,095 54,641 6,493 54,641

Non-cash changes
Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities 195 - 313 -
Financing cash flows
Repayment of Lease Liabilities (1,151) - (1,717) -

Repayment of borrowings - (54,641) - (54,641)

As at December 31, 2019 3,139 - 5,089

Non-cash changes
Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities 145 - 241 -
New leases 285 - 390 -
Financing cash flows
Repayment of Lease Liabilities (1,124) - (1,705) -

Drawdown of borrowings - 26,521 - 26,521

As at December 31, 2020 2,445 26,521 4,015 26,521

Bank Group
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33. Related party transactions

The Bank and the Group considers members of the Board of Directors and the members of the Bank’s management 
committee as key management personnel of the Bank and the Group.

Some of the Bank’s and the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and subsidiary companies 
and the effect of these on the basis determined between the parties are reflected in these consolidated financial 
statements.

(i) Transactions with Key Management Personnel for the Bank and the Group:

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Statements of financial position
Assets
Loans and Advances (exclude Credit cards) 508 777
Credit Cards 141 217

Total 649 994

Liabilities
Deposits 6,488 5,756

Off Balance Sheet items
Undrawn Facilities 541 448

Total

Statements of profits or loss and other comprhensive income

Income

Interest income 39 52

Expenses

Other Expenses 3,790 4,436
Interest Expenses 84 87

Total 3,874 4,523

Bank and Group
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34. Related party transactions (cont’d)

(ii) The Bank’s and the Group’s related parties shall include parent, subsidiaries and other related companies.

2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

  2020
B$’000

2019
B$’000

Statements of financial position
Assets
Loans and Advances (exclude Credit cards) - - 134,795 97,175
Credit Cards - - 22 77
Other Assets 666 341 - -

Total 666 341 134,817 97,252

Liabilities
Deposits 325,940 207,815 266,120 196,584
Other Liabilities 2,203 - - -

Total 328,143 207,815 266,120 196,584

Off Balance Sheet items
Undrawn Facilities - - 218,883 54,381
Guarantees - - 15,820 419
Contingencies and Other Commitments - - 9,000 7,291
Letter of Credit - - 195 -

Total - - 243,898 62,091

Statements of profits or loss and other comprhensive income

Income

Interest income 1,399 - 4,974 4,330

Expenses
Interest Expenses 1,461 2,908 724 1,124

Subsidiaries Other Related Companies

Bank and Group
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34. Prior year adjustment

During the year, the Group underwent a periodic review of its model performance and implementation of their ECL 
system. As a result of this exercise, the Group were able to assess more accurate and complete data sets concerning 
the recoveries of previously defaulted hire purchase receivables. These data sets impacted the LGD model for hire 
purchase receivables as at January 1, 2018 (i.e. the effective date for IFS 9). This adjustment has been accounted for 
retrospectively to the opening balances of the earliest prior period shown in these financial statements (i.e. January 1, 
2019) and a prior year adjustment has been made as follows:

Statements of financial position
Note As previously stated

B$’000

Effect of prior year 
adjustment

B$’000

 
As stated

B$’000

As at December 31, 2018
Assets
Loans and Advances
   Gross Loans and Advances
   Less: Loss allowances ( a )

2,185,293
(118,058)

-
(9,154)

2,185,293
(127,212)

Net Loans and Advances 2,067,235 (9,154) 2,058,081

Shareholders’ Funds/ Equity
Other Reserves ( b ) 147,391 (9,154) 138,237

As at December 31, 2019
Assets
Loans and Advances
  Gross Loans and Advances
  Less: Loss allowances ( a )

2,083,048
(94,757)

-
(9,154)

2,083,048
(103,911)

Net Loans and Advances 1,988,291 (9,154) 1,979,137

Shareholders’ Funds/ Equity
Other Reserves ( b ) 169,352 (9,154) 160,198

Group

a.	 The inclusion of more complete recovery data sets resulted in increasing the Loss Allowance balances for Loans and 
Advances, which in turn resulted in a decrease of the Loans and Advances balances for the financial year ended 
December 31, 2018 by B$9,154,000, and,

b.	 Decreasing the Retained Earnings as at December 31, 2018 by B$9,154,000.

The effect of the above prior year adjustment to the opening balance of Loss Allowances as at January 1, 2019 and 2020 
can be referred to Note 4.4. 

The above adjustment has resulted in restatement of capital management as follows:

Group

As previously stated As restated

Capital Ratios

Core Capital (Tier I) Ratio, % 19.56% 19.24%

Total Capitol Ration, % 20.50% 20.25%

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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